## UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT DISTRICT OF NORTH DAKOTA EASTERN DIVISION

THE RELIGIOUS SISTERS OF MERCY; SACRED HEART MERCY HEALTH CARE CENTER (Jackson, MN); SACRED HEART MERCY HEALTH CARE CENTER (Alma, MI); SMP HEALTH SYSTEM; UNIVERSITY OF MARY;	) ) ) )
and	)
STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA,	)
Plaintiffs	)
v.	)
THOMAS E. PRICE, M.D., Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services; and UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES,	) ) ) )
Defendants	) ) ) Case No. 3:16-cv-00386
CATHOLIC BENEFITS ASSOCIATION; DIOCESE OF FARGO; CATHOLIC CHARITIES NORTH DAKOTA; and CATHOLIC MEDICAL ASSOCIATION,	) ) ) )
Plaintiffs	)
V.	)
THOMAS E. PRICE, M.D., Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services; UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES; Victoria Lipnic, Acting Chair of the United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission; and UNITED STATES EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION	) ) )

Defendants

## AMENDED VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND DECLARATORY RELIEF

## Table of Contents

I.	NATURE OF THE ACTION				
II.	JURISDICTION AND VENUE				
III.	PARTIES				
	А.	Plaintiffs			
		1.	Diocese of Fargo	10	
		2.	Catholic Charities North Dakota		
		3.	Catholic Medical Association		
		4.	Catholic Benefits Association	14	
	В.	Defend	dants	17	
IV.	PLAINTIFFS' BELIEFS AND PRACTICES RELATED TO THE ACTS MANDATE				
	А.	Cathol	ic teaching on the duty to treat all persons with dignity	18	
	В.	Catholic teaching on gender identity19			
	С.	Catholic teaching on abortion2			
	D.	Catholic teaching on scandal2			
	E.	The Ethical and Religious Directives21			
	F.	The Catholic Benefits Association's Ethics Committee			
	G.	The ACTS Mandate constitutes bad medicine23			
V.	THE ACTS MANDATE				
	А.	Statuto	ory Overview	24	
		1.	Section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act	24	
		2.	Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972	25	
		3.	Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964	26	
		4.	Congress has consistently rejected attempts to expand the meaning of "sex" in Title VII and Title IX	27	
		5.	Congress has, in other contexts, barred discrimination on the basis of gender identity.	28	
		6.	Anti-abortion provisions in or applicable to the Affordable Care Act	29	

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 3 of 82

	В.	B. After Congress passed the ACA, and contrary to congressional will, federal agencies unilaterally sought to redefine sex discrimination				
	C.	HHS's Section 1557 Rule				
		1.	Healthcare professionals must perform or refer for gender transition procedures			
		2.	Healthcare facilities and professionals must alter their speech and medical advice			
		3.	Covered employers and insurance providers must offer employee benefits covering gender transition procedures			
			a. United Healthcare "Gender Dysphoria Rider"			
			b. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Kansas City "Treatment of Gen Dysphoria" Policy	der		
		4.	Sex-specific healthcare facilities or programs, including shower fac or hospital wards, must be opened to individuals based on gender			
		-	identity.			
		5.	Covered entities must provide assurances of compliance			
		6.	Covered entities must post notices of compliance.			
	D	7.	Covered entities must train their employees on the 1557 Rule			
	D.	D. HHS rejected calls to accommodate religious exercise in its 1557 Rule				
	Е.	The EEOC, invoking Title VII, will impose many of the requirements of the 1557 Rule against non-covered entities				
	F.	The A	CTS Mandate's enforcement mechanisms	46		
VI.	The ACTS Mandate burdens the religious exercise of the CBA and its members					
	А.	ACTS Mandate's effects on CBA members that are covered entities – medical services				
	В.	ACTS Mandate's effects on CBA members that are covered entities – insurance coverage				
	C.	ACTS Mandate's effects on insured CBA members				
	D.	ACTS Mandate's effects on self-insured CBA members				
VII.	URGENT NEED FOR RELIEF					
VIII.	CAUSES OF ACTION					
IX.	PRAYER FOR RELIEF74					

#### Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 4 of 82

## Plaintiffs CATHOLIC BENEFITS ASSOCIATION, DIOCESE OF FARGO, CATHOLIC CHARITIES NORTH DAKOTA, and CATHOLIC MEDICAL ASSOCIATION, through Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie LLP, allege:

## I. NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. For decades, federal nondiscrimination laws like Title VII and Title IX have barred discrimination on the basis of sex. Congress has consistently rejected attempts to expand such laws to cover sexual orientation and gender identity. The federal courts have likewise generally refused to interpret "sex" as including sexual orientation and gender identity. But over the last few years, the administration has sought to sidestep Congress by reinterpreting these laws through executive actions: through regulations, announcements, and even letters that seek to "amend" federal civil rights laws contrary to Congress's actions.

2. This lawsuit concerns the most recent of such efforts, and the most consequential for Catholic healthcare institutions and even Catholic employers more generally: HHS's expansive interpretation of Section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act (42 U.S.C. § 18116) through a May 2016 final regulation ("1557 Rule" or "Rule"). In short, HHS has taken a little-remarked-upon section of the ACA that prohibits discrimination "on the basis of sex" and turned it into a mandate that coerces Catholic hospitals and other healthcare providers into performing, supporting, and even covering gender transition procedures, and coerces other Catholic employers, even Catholic dioceses, into covering them. The 1557 Rule also prevents Catholic entities from discriminating on the basis of "termination of pregnancy," a phrase that likely creates an abortion mandate. HHS has refused to deny that this phrase may be used to coerce Catholic employers into performing or funding abortions.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 5 of 82

3. The 1557 Rule applies directly to a "covered entity," i.e., any entity that operates a health program or activity, any part of which receives federal financial assistance. As defined by HHS, an entity receives federal financial assistance when it participates in Medicaid or Medicare. Thus, HHS believes that its rule covers virtually all healthcare providers and insured health plans, along with an uncertain portion of self-insured plans. The Rule requires competent healthcare providers to themselves deliver or provide, and for full-service health plans to cover, "gender transition services."

4. Because HHS's Rule affects nearly every insurance provider, it also affects Catholic employers that are not "covered entities." Several Catholic Benefits Association ("CBA") members, including two Catholic dioceses, have already been instructed by their insurers that, due to the 1557 Rule, next year's health plans will include a "gender dysphoria" policy and will cover gender transition services such as:

- a. *Male to female surgeries* include: clitoroplasty (creation of a clitoris), labiaplasty (creation of a labia), orchiectomy (removal of testicles), penectomy (removal of penis), vaginoplasty (creation of a vagina), and urethroplasty (reconstruction of female urethra).
- b. Female to male surgeries include: bilateral mastectomy or breast reduction, hysterectomy (removal of uterus), metoidioplasty (creation of penis, using clitoris), penile prosthesis, phalloplasty (creation of penis), saplingo-oopherectomy (removal of fallopian tubes and ovaries), scrotoplasty (creation of scrotum), testicular prosthesis, vulvectomy (removal of vulva), urethroplasty (construction of male urethra), and vaginectomy (removal of vagina).
- c. *Other gender transition services* include: supportive counseling/psychotherapy and cross-sex hormone therapy. *See* Exs. E and F.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 6 of 82

5. Catholic employers cannot avoid HHS's mandate by becoming self-insured. Selfinsured CBA members have been told by their third party administrators ("TPAs") that if they wish to exclude gender transition coverage from their plan, they must indemnify their TPAs.

6. The 1557 Rule also prohibits discrimination on the basis of "termination of pregnancy." During the rulemaking process, commenters, including the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops, asked HHS to "state explicitly" that the agency was not attempting to use 1557 to create an abortion mandate. HHS refused.

7. After considering several limitations on the ability of the government to impose an abortion mandate, it appears that this mandate, at the least, coerces group insurers into including abortion coverage in their policies.

8. By failing to clarify that Section 1557 does not create an abortion mandate, HHS is pressuring CBA members to cover such benefits in their group health plans, thus chilling their statutory and constitutional rights.

9. Commentators also asked HHS to create an exemption for religious employers, like the exemption under Title IX, on which the 1557 Rule was modeled. HHS refused.

10. Finally, the 1557 Rule expressly points beyond itself, asserting that where HHS does not have jurisdiction over a given employer, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC") may pursue enforcement actions under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, employing a similarly aggressive definition of sex discrimination. The EEOC has stated on numerous occasions that it now interprets Title VII as prohibiting all discrimination on the basis of "gender identity."

11. EEOC administers Title VII and, therefore, has jurisdiction over not only covered entities but all employers with 15 or more employees.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 7 of 82

12. Altogether, HHS's 1557 Rule and EEOC's interpretation of Title VII create an Abortion and Comprehensive Transgender Services ("ACTS") Mandate that requires the following:

- a. Under the 1557 Rule, covered entities' health plans must cover gender transition and abortion services.
- b. Competent healthcare entities and professionals must perform gender transition procedures, including hormone treatments, surgeries, and counseling, as well as abortions, even when they believe the procedures are medically unnecessary or inappropriate.
- c. Covered healthcare entities and professionals must alter their speech and advice.
- Employers, healthcare entities, and healthcare professionals must use the transgender employee's or patient's preferred name and pronouns even if they do not correspond to the individual's biological sex.
- e. Sex-specific healthcare facilities or programs—including sexual assault victim support groups, shower facilities, and hospital wards—must be opened to individuals based on gender identity.
- f. Regardless whether an employer is a "covered entity," virtually all fully insured group health policies must cover gender transition and abortion.
- g. Third party administrators doing business, without separate incorporation, as department or division of health insurance issuers must include gender transition and abortion services in the coverage they provide, unless the plan explicitly excludes such coverage.
- h. Employers and health insurance issuers must not deny or limit coverage for particular services if it results in discrimination against a transgender individual.

- i. Covered entities must provide assurances of compliance to the government and post notices of compliance in conspicuous places.
- j. Covered entities must train their employees on the 1557 Rule requirements.
- k. Where HHS finds it lacks authority to enforce its ACTS Mandate against a given employer, the EEOC may initiate an enforcement action for failure to provide coverage for gender transition services.

13. Failure to comply with HHS's and EEOC's ACTS Mandate exposes Catholic entities to severe penalties. Covered entities can become subject to fines. They can be barred from Medicaid and Medicare, become subject to treble damages under the False Claims Act, and responsible persons may face up five years in prison. All employers will be subject to civil suits that can be initiated by government agencies, individual plaintiffs, or class plaintiffs that expose them to compensatory damages, punitive damages, and attorneys fees.

14. The Title VII portion of the ACTS Mandate has already taken effect against Catholic Benefits Association and Catholic Medical Association ("CMA") members. The part of the HHS 1557 Rule that coerces covered entities to perform gender transition and abortion procedures has also taken effect. The remaining part of the 1557 Rule, which coerces covered entities into providing coverage for gender transitions and abortions, will take effect against covered entitles, including group insurers and TPAs, on the first day of the first plan year that begins on or after January 1, 2017.

15. Plaintiff Catholic Benefits Association is a Catholic membership ministry that exists to unite and serve Catholic employers who wish to live out their faith in ministry, business, and the workplace. The CBA works and advocates for religious freedom of Catholic employers, including their right to offer healthcare services and provide employee health benefits consistent with Catholic

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 9 of 82

values. The ACTS Mandate thus not only injures CBA members, it also injures the CBA itself by rendering its mission effectively illegal.

16. The Catholic Medical Association is a national, physician-led community of healthcare professionals. Its mission is to inform, organize, and inspire its members, in steadfast fidelity to the teachings of the Catholic Church, to uphold the principles of the Catholic faith in the science and practice of medicine. Its mission includes defending its members' right to follow their conscience and Catholic teaching in their professional work. As with the CBA, the ACTS Mandate injures CMA members and the CMA itself.

17. Plaintiffs seek a declaration that the ACTS Mandate cannot legally be applied to them or any CBA or CMA member, and they seek an injunction barring enforcement of the Mandate against the CBA and CMA, against all CBA and CMA members, and against any third parties acting in concert with such members for the delivery of health coverage or services, including their insurers and TPAs.

### II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

18. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1361 because this action arises under the Constitution and laws of the United States. The Court has jurisdiction to render declaratory and injunctive relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, and 42 U.S.C. § 2000bb-1.

19. Venue lies in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(1). Plaintiffs The Diocese of Fargo and Catholic Charities North Dakota reside in this district and this division because their principal places of business are here.

## III. PARTIES

## A. Plaintiffs

## 1. Diocese of Fargo

20. The Diocese of Fargo is that "portion of the people of God," located in 30 counties in eastern North Dakota, "which is entrusted to [the Bishop of Fargo] for him to shepherd" in cooperation with his priests. *See* Code of Canon Law, c. 369 (1983). The Diocese carries out the spiritual, educational, and social service mission of the Catholic Church in eastern North Dakota. Its Bishop is the Most Reverend John Thomas Folda. He exercises pastoral care and canonical support for more than 130 parishes and missions and other Catholic ministries within the Diocese.

21. The Diocese of Fargo is a member of the Catholic Benefits Association.

22. The Diocese of Fargo comprises 35,786 square miles and, through its parishes and other Catholic organizations, ministers to more than 71,000 Catholics and thousands of others in eastern North Dakota.

23. The educational mission of the Diocese of Fargo is carried out, in part, through 12 elementary schools, one middle school, and one high school within the Diocese. The five diocesan schools in the Fargo metro area (three elementary schools, the middle school, and the high school) belong to the St. John Paul II Catholic Schools Network.

24. The charitable mission of the Diocese of Fargo is carried out through local parishes and various ministries founded by or otherwise related to the Diocese, including Catholic Charities of North Dakota.

25. The Diocese of Fargo has a Respect Life Office whose mission is to foster a culture of life and to proclaim and defend the God-given, inviolable dignity of every person. The Respect Life Office runs Project Rachel, a post-abortion ministry that offers hope and healing for those who suffer from the spiritual and emotional pain of abortion and its aftermath.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 11 of 82

26. Another ministry of the Diocese of Fargo is the North Dakota Catholic Conference, which acts on behalf of the Catholic bishops of North Dakota to respond to public policy issues of concern to the Catholic Church and to educate Catholics and the general public about Catholic social doctrine. Inspired by Scripture and Catholic teachings, the Conference works at the appropriate level of government for legislation and regulations that reflect the Gospel message of respect for human life, care for the poor, and promotion of the common good. The Conference advocates across a broad spectrum of issues, including alternatives to abortion, support for children and families, healthcare, religious liberty, economic justice, and care for the environment.

27. The Diocese of Fargo operates a self-insured health plan. That is, the Diocese does not contract with a separate insurance company for health coverage. Rather, the Diocese itself underwrites the medical costs of plan participants. It rents a provider network and has engaged a TPA to administer its plan.

28. Upon information and belief, the Diocese's TPA is an operating division of the insurance company providing that network and is therefore a covered entity subject to the 1557 Rule.

29. Consistent with Catholic values and teaching, the Diocese of Fargo's health plan categorically excludes gender transition and abortion procedures.

30. Many of the Catholic parishes and affiliated Catholic ministries within the Diocese of Fargo participate in the diocesan health plan.

#### 2. Catholic Charities North Dakota

31. Catholic Charities North Dakota ("Catholic Charities") serves the poor, elderly, and disabled throughout North Dakota through critical social services programs. Its mission is to serve people in need, regardless of religious affiliation, based on the fundamental principles of Catholic Social Teaching. The services of Catholic Charities include disaster relief, individual and family

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 12 of 82

counseling, adoption services, pregnancy counseling, and guardianship services for adults with special needs.

32. Catholic Charities is a member of the Catholic Benefits Association.

33. Catholic Charities adheres to Catholic teachings, including those regarding sanctity of human life and care for one's neighbors. In partnership with PATH ND, Catholic Charities operates Adults Adopting Special Kids ("AASK"), which provides adoption services to children in foster care and the families who adopt them. Through its pregnancy and parental counseling program, Catholic Charities counsels mothers and fathers on parenting, adoption, and marriage, and connects them with community resources. In its disaster relief program, Catholic Charities provides emergency relief and recovery services for victims of blizzards, floods, tornadoes, droughts, and wildfires, offering direct financial aid and other assistance.

34. Catholic Charities contracts with a group health insurance company for the benefit of its employees and their families.

35. Upon information and belief, Catholic Charities' insurer is a covered entity under the 1557 Rule.

## 3. Catholic Medical Association

36. The Catholic Medical Association ("CMA") is a national, physician-led community of healthcare professionals. Its mission is to inform, organize, and inspire its members, in steadfast fidelity to the teachings of the Catholic Church, to uphold the principles of the Catholic faith in the science and practice of medicine.

37. The Catholic Medical Association's mission includes defending its members' right to follow their conscience and Catholic teaching in their professional work. It also serves as a national advocate for the views of Catholic physicians and healthcare professionals.

38. The Catholic Medical Association is a member of the Catholic Benefits Association.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 13 of 82

39. To be a member of the Catholic Medical Association, a Catholic physician must solemnly promise to:

- Practice Catholic moral principles, in particular those related to bio-medical ethics;
- Be faithful to the teachings of Catholic Church and to form one's professional conscience in accord with them;
- Refuse to become an instrument of violent or oppressive applications of medicine;
- Respect one's patients and treat them without prejudice arising from religion, racial, ethnic, socio-economic or sexual differences; and
- Work with openness toward every person, independently of their religious beliefs.

40. Catholic Medical Association members include Catholic physicians who practice in a number of medical specialties, including endocrinology, ob-gyn, psychiatry, dermatology, urology, internal medicine, pediatrics, family practice, and plastic surgery. While CMA members in these specialties do not provide gender transition services, they do provide medical services and perform medical procedures that are performed by other physicians as part of a gender transition.

41. As such, these Catholic Medical Association members will be impacted by the ACTS Mandate because (1) it compels them to speak differently to their patients with regard to gender transition procedures, (2) prohibits them from conveying to patients their own medical judgment with retard to gender transition services, and (3) forces them to offer services or facilities in furtherance of gender transitions.

42. The Catholic Medical Association has members who currently provide healthcare coverage for employees, coverage that excludes gender transition services and surgeries. Those members will be impacted by the ACTS Mandate.

43. The Catholic Medical Association has members who have treated or currently treat patients with gender dysphoria, and who may be liable for failure to provide or refer their patients for gender transition services or surgeries.

## 4. Catholic Benefits Association

44. The CBA is a § 501(c)(3) nonprofit corporation and Catholic ministry. Its articles of organization state that it is "organized for charitable purposes" that are "consistent with Catholic values, doctrine, and canon law." Specifically, they state that the CBA is organized "[t]o support Catholic employers . . . that, as part of their religious witness and exercise, provide health or other benefits to their respective employees in a manner that is consistent with Catholic values"; "[t]o work and advocate for religious freedom of Catholic and other employers seeking to conduct their ministries and businesses according to their religious values"; "[t]o make charitable donations to Catholic ministries"; and "[t]o incorporate . . . one or more Catholic insurance companies, in furtherance of the Association's purposes." *See* Ex. A, Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Catholic Benefits Association ("CBA Articles"), art. IV.

45. The Most Reverend William E. Lori, Archbishop of Baltimore, is chairman of the CBA's board of directors.

46. Seven of the CBA's directors are Catholic archbishops. They are Most Rev. Gregory M. Aymond of New Orleans, Most Rev. Charles J. Chaput, O.F.M. Cap. of Philadelphia, Most Rev. Paul S. Coakley of Oklahoma City, Most Rev. Bernard A. Hebda of Saint Paul and Minneapolis, Most Rev. William E. Lori of Baltimore, Most Rev. Joseph F. Naumann of Kansas City, Kansas, and Most Rev. J. Peter Sartain of Seattle. Four of its directors are Catholic lay persons, including: Helen Alvaré, Beth Elfrey, Ed Hanway, and Carolyn Woo. Three-fourths of its directors are required to be Catholic. *See* Ex. B, Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of The Catholic Benefits Association ("CBA Bylaws) art. 5.2.

47. All of the CBA's officers are Catholic.

48. The CBA has a standing Ethics Committee, comprised exclusively of the archbishops on its board. The CBA's bylaws state:

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 15 of 82

The Ethics Committee shall have exclusive authority to review all benefits, products, and services provided by the Ministry [i.e. the Association], its affiliates or subsidiaries, or their respective contractors to ensure such conform with Catholic values and doctrine. If they do not, the committee shall determine the necessary corrections to bring such benefits, products, and services into conformity with Catholic values and doctrine. The decision of the committee shall be final and binding on the Association, its board, and its officers ....

Ex. B, CBA Bylaws, art. 5.14.2.

49. To be a member of the CBA, an organization must meet these criteria, among others: (1) it shall be a Catholic employer, and (2) with regard to the benefits it provides to its employees, independent contractors, or students, or with regard to the health care services it provides to its patients, the employer shall, as part of its religious witness and exercise, be committed to providing no benefits or services inconsistent with Catholic values. Ex. B, CBA Bylaws art. III.1, Membership; *see also* Ex. A, CBA Articles, art. VI, Members; Ex. C, CBA Nonprofit Employer Application for Membership; Ex. D, CBA For Profit Employer Application for Membership.

50. The Bylaws of the CBA provide that an employer "shall satisfy the requirement of being Catholic if either the employer is listed in the current edition of *The Official Catholic Directory* or the secretary or his or her designee makes such a determination." Ex. B, CBA Bylaws, art. III, § 3.1.1.

51. The Bylaws further provide that a for-profit employer seeking membership in the CBA "shall be deemed Catholic only if (i) Catholics (or trusts or other entities wholly controlled by such Catholic individuals) own 51% or more of employer, (ii) 51% or more of the members of the employer's governing body, if any, is comprised of Catholics, and (iii) either the employer's owners or governing body has adopted a written policy stating that the employer is committed to providing no benefits to the employer's employees or independent contractors inconsistent with Catholic values." Ex. B, CBA Bylaws, art. III, § 3.1.1.2.

52. All members of the CBA meet the Association's criteria for being Catholic.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 16 of 82

53. The CBA presently has over 880 employer members plus over 5,000 member Catholic parishes, covering more than 90,000 employees and their families.

54. CBA members include over 60 Catholic dioceses and archdioceses, hospitals, Catholic Charities, mental health service providers, counseling centers, nursing homes, senior residence facilities, schools, colleges, religious orders, and other Catholic ministries and Catholicowned businesses.

55. CBA members include hospitals and other healthcare entities that receive Medicaid and Medicare payments and thus are covered entities under the 1557 Rule.

56. CBA members include Catholic Charities and other social service organizations that offer counseling and other mental health services, in individual and group settings, that receive Medicaid and Medicare payments and participate in HHS-funded programs and thus are covered entities under the 1557 Rule.

57. CBA members include employers, including Catholic dioceses and archdioceses, that provide employee health benefits in conjunction with health insurers and TPAs. These insurers and TPAs participate in federally funded marketplaces and thus are covered entities under the 1557 Rule. The 1557 Rule thus constrains CBA members' ability to arrange for and secure health plans that reflect their Catholic values.

58. CBA members include employers that are covered entities and those that are not covered entities under the 1557 Rule. Both sets of employers are subject to Title VII.

59. The CBA has standing to represent all of its present and future members.

60. The ACTS Mandate harms all of the CBA's members.

61. The CBA seeks to protect its members' ability to operate in accordance with Catholic values and to access morally compliant health coverage for their respective employees or

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 17 of 82

agents. It additionally seeks, for members that are covered entities, protection from being required to provide medical services and to perform surgeries contrary to Catholic values.

62. The CBA can adequately represent its members' interests. All members are similarly situated in that the Defendants' ACTS Mandate coerces CBA members to cover, provide, pay for, or otherwise directly or indirectly facilitate access to gender transition services and abortions for their patients or for their employees in violation of their sincerely held Catholic beliefs. The ACTS Mandate also deprives or will deprive certain CBA members of the option to purchase group insurance without gender transition and abortion coverage.

63. The CBA brings this action on behalf itself and on behalf of specific members who themselves have suffered and will suffer concrete harm, and especially those members who will on January 1, 2017, suffer concrete harm as a result of Defendants' actions.

## B. Defendants

64. Defendants are appointed officials of the federal government and federal government agencies responsible for promulgating, administering, and enforcing the ACTS Mandate.

65. Defendant United States Department of Health and Human Services is an executive agency of the United States government and is responsible for the promulgation, administration, and enforcement of the 1557 Rule.

66. Defendant Sylvia M. Burwell is the HHS Secretary. She is sued only in her official capacity.

67. Defendant Equal Employment Opportunity Commission is a federal agency that administers, interprets, and enforces certain laws, including Title VII. The EEOC is, among other things, responsible for investigating employment and hiring discrimination complaints.

#### Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 18 of 82

68. Defendant Jenny R. Yang is the EEOC Chair. She is, in this capacity, responsible for the administration and implementation of policy within the EEOC, including the investigating of complaints of discrimination on the basis of sex. She is sued only in her official capacity

# IV. PLAINTIFFS' BELIEFS AND PRACTICES RELATED TO THE ACTS MANDATE

69. All Plaintiffs and all CBA members are Catholic ministries or Catholic-owned businesses that believe and practice the teachings of the Catholic Church on the nature of the human person, the dignity of humankind, the right to life, the right of conscience and religious freedom, and related ethical issues.

### A. Catholic teaching on the duty to treat all persons with dignity

70. The Catholic Church teaches that all people are born in the image and likeness of God and are thus imbued with human dignity. Catechism of the Catholic Church ("CCC") 1701. As such, all persons and are to be loved and respected in their human freedom. CCC 1738.

71. The Catholic Church specifically applies this to people who reject its teaching on matters of sexual identity and sexual morality. The Church teaches that such persons "must be accepted with respect, compassion, and sensitivity. Every sign of unjust discrimination in their regard should be avoided." CCC 2358.

72. The United States Conference of Catholic Bishops ("USCCB") has applied this teaching to transgender persons and those afflicted with gender dysphoria. In response to the U.S. Department of Education's guidance letter asserting that Title IX bars discrimination based on "gender identity," the USCCB stressed that the Catholic Church "consistently affirms the inherent dignity of each and every human person and advocates for the wellbeing of all people, particularly

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 19 of 82

the most vulnerable."<sup>1</sup> The USCCB statements affirmed that people who struggle with their gender identity "deserve compassion, sensitivity, and respect." *Id.* 

73. The comments the USCCB filed along with other Christian bodies in response to HHS's proposed rule under Section 1557 likewise affirmed that "[e]veryone should have access to health care and health coverage."<sup>2</sup>

74. Defendant HHS has acknowledged that every religious group that submitted comments in response to its propose rule shared similar sentiments. Its 1557 Rule notes, "None of the commenters supporting a religious exemption asserted that there would be a religious basis for generally refusing to treat LGBT individuals for a medical condition." 81 Fed. Reg. 31,376, 31,379 (May 18, 2016).

## B. Catholic teaching on gender identity

75. Catholic teaching on the nature of the human person begins with the Book of Genesis, which teaches that "God created man in his own image . . . male and female he created them." CCC 2331 (quoting Genesis 1:27).

76. The Catechism further teaches that "[e]veryone, man and woman, should acknowledge and accept his sexual identity." CCC 2333. "By creating the human being man and woman, God gives personal dignity equally to the one and the other. Each of them, man and woman, should acknowledge and accept his sexual identity." CCC 2393.

77. Pope Francis has reiterated this Catholic teaching in recent years, affirming that "man too has a nature that he must respect and that he cannot manipulate at will.... The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> USCCB, USCCB Chairmen Respond to Administration's New Guidance Letter on Title IX Application, May 16, 2016, http://www.usccb.org/news/2016/16-056.cfm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Comments from USCCB et al. to U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services Re: Nondiscrimination in Health Programs and Activities RIN 0945-AA-2 (Nov. 6, 2015), <u>http://www.usccb.org/about/generalcounsel/rulemaking/upload/Comments-Proposal-HHS-Reg-Nondiscrimination-Federally-Funded-Health.pdf.</u>

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 20 of 82

acceptance of our bodies as God's gift is vital for welcoming and accepting the whole world as a gift from the Father. . . . Learning to accept our body, to care for it and to respect its fullest meaning, is an essential element of any genuine human ecology." *Laudato Si*, No. 155 (2015).

78. As for youth who are struggling with their gender identity, Pope Francis has taught that "the young need to be helped to accept their own body as it was created." *Amoris Laetitia*, No. 285 (2016).

79. Sexual reassignment surgery requires the destruction of healthy sexual and reproductive organs.<sup>3</sup>

80. The Catholic Church teaches that intentionally removing healthy organs that identify as a person as male or female is a type of amputation or mutilation that is intrinsically evil.

81. Some gender transition surgeries also involve sterilization. The Catholic Church teaches that all forms of sterilization are contrary to the moral law. CCC 2370.

82. The Catholic Church teaches that "[e]xcept when performed for strictly therapeutic medical reasons, directly intended amputations, mutilations, and sterilizations performed on innocent persons are against the moral law." CCC 2297.

## C. Catholic teaching on abortion

83. The Catechism of the Catholic Church teaches that life begins at conception and that "[h]uman life must be respected and protected absolutely from the moment of conception." CCC 2270. Thus, "[d]irect abortion, that is to say, abortion willed either as an end or a means, is gravely contrary to the moral law." CCC 2271.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Richard P. Fitzgibbons, M.D., et al., The Psychopathology of "Sex Reassignment" Surgery: Assessing its Medical, Psychological and Ethical Appropriateness, National Catholic Bioethics Quarterly 97, 100 (Spring 2009), available at <u>www.ncbcenter.org/document.doc?id=581</u>.

### D. Catholic teaching on scandal

84. Catholic moral theology prohibits acts that may give rise to "scandal." The Catechism defines scandal as "an attitude or behavior which leads another to do evil." CCC 2284. The Catechism teaches that "[a]nyone who uses the power at his disposal in such a way that it leads others to do wrong becomes guilty of scandal and responsible for the evil that he has directly or indirectly encouraged." CCC 2287. Avoiding scandal is particularly important for Catholic entities that seek to inculcate Catholic faith and values.

## E. The Ethical and Religious Directives

85. These teachings are reflected in the Ethical and Religious Directives for Catholic Health Care Services ("Ethical and Religious Directives" or "ERDs"), a document issued by the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops in order "to reaffirm the ethical standards of behavior in health care that flow from the Church's teaching about the dignity of the human person" and "to provide authoritative guidance on certain moral issues that face Catholic health care today." USCCB, *Ethical and Religious Directives for Catholic Health Care Services, Fifth Edition*, ¶ 4,

http://www.usccb.org/issues-and-action/human-life-and-dignity/health-care/upload/Ethical-Religious-Directives-Catholic-Health-Care-Services-fifth-edition-2009.pdf .

86. The ERDs teach that "[d]irect sterilization of either men or women, whether permanent or temporary, is not permitted in a Catholic health care institution. Procedures that induce sterility are permitted when their direct effect is the cure or alleviation of a present and serious pathology and a simpler treatment is not available." *Id.* ¶ 53.

87. The ERDs teach that "Catholic health care organizations are not permitted to engage in immediate material cooperation in actions that are intrinsically immoral, such as abortion, euthanasia, assisted suicide, and direct sterilization." *Id.* ¶ 70.

## F. The Catholic Benefits Association's Ethics Committee

88. As noted above in paragraph 39, the CBA's Ethics Committee, comprised

exclusively of Catholic archbishops, has the duty and responsibility to define Catholic values and

doctrine on relevant issues for CBA members.

89. In November 2016, the CBA's Ethics Committee convened to address doctrinal and

ethical issues related to the ACTS Mandate. After consultation, it unanimously adopted the

following resolutions:

- a. **RESOLVED**: that treatments and services designed to alter a person's biological sex are contrary to Catholic values. A Catholic employer, therefore, cannot, consistent with Catholic values, comply with the government's mandate to include coverage in its employee health plan for treatments services designed to alter a person's biological sex.
- b. **RESOLVED**: that treatments and services designed to alter a person's biological sex are contrary to Catholic values. A Catholic hospital, clinic, physicians practice group, or other medical provider, therefore, cannot, consistent with Catholic values, comply with the government's mandate to provide or deliver treatments or services designed to alter a person's biological sex.
- c. **RESOLVED**: that abortion is contrary to Catholic values. A Catholic employer, therefore, cannot, consistent with Catholic values, comply with any government mandate to include coverage in its employee health plan for abortion.
- d. **RESOLVED**: that abortion is contrary to Catholic values. A Catholic health care insurer or third party administrator, therefore, cannot, consistent with Catholic values, comply with any government abortion mandate by operating or administering a plan that provides coverage for abortion.
- e. **RESOLVED**: that abortion is contrary to Catholic values. A Catholic hospital, clinic, physicians practice group, or other medical provider, therefore, cannot, consistent with Catholic values, comply with any government abortion mandate that requires the provision and delivery of abortion services.
- 90. Consistent with the Ethics Committee's guidance, Plaintiffs and all CBA members

believe they must adhere to the above teachings as matters of religious faith and doctrine.

Consequently, CBA members believe that gender transition procedures, sterilization, and abortion

are contrary to the Catholic faith. CBA members further believe, as part of their faith, that they must

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 23 of 82

not provide, pay for, or directly or indirectly facilitate access to such services and, therefore, that they must not perform gender transition services or abortions and must not include coverage for such procedures in their group health plans.

## G. The ACTS Mandate constitutes bad medicine

91. In addition to the religious and ethical convictions described above, Plaintiffs and all CBA and CMA members also believe that the ACTS Mandate constitutes bad medicine.

92. Because Defendants' ACTS Mandate has no age limit, it requires covered entities to provide gender transition services for adolescents diagnosed with gender dysphoria.

93. Placing adolescents on puberty blockers or cross-sex hormones may cause permanent infertility and increased health risks.

94. For example, male adolescents on cross-sex hormones are at a higher risk for thrombosis, cardiovascular disease, weight gain, elevated blood pressure, decreased glucose tolerance, gallbladder disease, and breast cancer.

95. Similarly, female adolescents on cross-sex hormones are at a higher risk for hepatotoxicity, polycythemia, increased risk of sleep apnea, insulin resistance, and unknown effects on breast, endometrial, and ovarian tissues.

96. These consequences are even more serious given that the overwhelming majority of adolescents who are formally diagnosed with gender dysphoria naturally come to accept their sex and enjoy emotional health by late adolescence.

97. Even where gender transition surgeries are effective in helping patients' physical bodies match their gender identity, post-surgical individuals have substantially higher rates of overall mortality, death from cardiovascular disease and suicide, suicide attempts, and hospitalizations compared to a healthy control population, especially as the years progress.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 24 of 82

98. Plaintiffs believe that Defendants ACTS Mandate also declares as "medically necessary" a radical course of treatment that the medical profession properly rejects when it comes to other psychological conditions where people experience emotional distress because of a discrepancy between their self-image and the physical reality. According to Defendants' logic, it would be "medically necessary" to perform liposuction on someone with anorexia nervosa (belief that one is obese), cosmetic surgery on someone with body dysmorphic disorder (belief that one is disfigured), or amputations for someone with body integrity identity disorder (belief that one is meant to be disabled).

99. Plaintiffs also believe that optimal patient care—including patient education, diagnosis, and treatment—requires taking account of the biological differences between men and women. To cite but one example, optimal prevention of and treatment for heart disease in women requires monitoring for different warning signs, accounting for different risk factors, and providing different counseling than it would for men.

100. For all these reasons, the CBA and CMA and their respective members believe that providing gender transition services is contrary to their religious and professional obligations and constitutes bad medicine.

## V. THE ACTS MANDATE

#### A. Statutory Overview

## 1. Section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act

101. On March 23, 2010, President Obama signed into law the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. 111-148, 124 Stat. 119 (Mar. 23, 2010). Days later, the President signed into law the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, Pub. L. 111-152, 124 Stat. 1029 (Mar. 30, 2010). These two acts, together, are known as the Affordable Care Act (the "Affordable Care Act" or "ACA").

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 25 of 82

102. Section 1557 of the ACA states that no individual can be denied certain federallyfunded health benefits because of the individual's race, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability. 42 U.S.C. § 18116. However, Section 1557 does not use or define such terms. Instead, this provision refers to other, pre-existing laws that prohibit discrimination on certain bases under certain circumstances: Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq.) (barring discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin), Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq.) (barring discrimination on the basis of sex), the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. 6101 et seq.) (barring discrimination on the basis of age), or section 794 of Title 29 (the Rehabilitation Act, barring discrimination on the basis of disability).

103. Title IX, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., is the only law referenced in Section 1557 that bars sex discrimination.

## 2. Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972

104. Congress passed Title IX in 1972. Public Law No. 92-318, 86 Stat. 235 (June 23, 1972).

105. Title IX states that no person "shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from participating in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any education program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance." 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a).

106. Title IX permits differentiation of intimate facilities by sex. 20 U.S.C. § 1686.

107. Congress specified that Title IX may not be applied to an entity "controlled by a religious organization if the application of this subsection would not be consistent with the religious tenets of such organization." 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a)(3).

108. Congress also stated that, regardless of whether an entity is religious, Title IX cannot be "construed to require or prohibit any person, or public or private entity, to provide or pay for any benefit or service . . . related to an abortion." 20 U.S.C. § 1688.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 26 of 82

109. At the time that the ACA was enacted in 2010, no federal court and no federal agency had interpreted "sex" in Title IX to include the right to an abortion.

110. At the time the ACA was enacted in 2010, no federal court and no federal agency had interpreted "sex" in Title IX to include gender identity.

111. The Eighth Circuit holds that the definition of discrimination on the basis of sex under Title IX and under Title VII should be "treated interchangeably." *Wolfe v. Fayetteville, Arkansas Sch. Dist.*, 648 F.3d 860, 866 (8th Cir. 2011).

112. The U.S. Department of Justice also holds that sex discrimination means substantively the same thing under Title IX and Title VII.<sup>4</sup>

## 3. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964

113. Congress enacted Title VII in 1964. Public Law 88-352, 78 Stat. 241 (July 2, 1964).

114. Title VII makes it unlawful for an employer to discriminate against employees or prospective employees "because of such individual's . . . sex." 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2.

115. When Congress passed Title VII, it specified that the law does not prevent a religious organization from taking religion into account with respect to positions related to the organization's religious mission. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-1(a). Congress also defined "religion" broadly, to include "all aspects of religious observance and practice, as well as belief." 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(j).

116. Congress enacted the Pregnancy Discrimination Act in 1978 to further define what constitutes "sex" discrimination under Title VII. It specified that the terms "because of sex" or "on the basis of sex" include "because of or on the basis of pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions." 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(k).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division, *Title IX Legal Manual*, Section IV.B.2, *available at* <u>https://www.justice.gov/sites/default/files/crt/legacy/2010/12/14/ixlegal.pdf/.</u>

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 27 of 82

117. At the same time, Congress clarified that Title VII "shall not require an employer to pay for health insurance benefits for abortion." *Id*.

118. When Congress enacted the ACA in 2010, no federal court and no federal agency had interpreted "sex" in Title VII to include the right to an abortion.

119. When the ACA was enacted in 2010, no federal court and no federal agency had interpreted "sex" in Title VII to include gender identity.

## 4. Congress has consistently rejected attempts to expand the meaning of "sex" in Title VII and Title IX.

120. For decades, lawmakers have proposed legislation that would expand Title VII and Title IX to add the new categories of "sexual orientation" and "gender identity." The first such attempt was in 1974, and there have been dozens of such attempts since then. Congress has rejected all such attempts.

121. In 1974, Representatives Bella Abzug and Edward Koch proposed to amend the Civil Rights Act to *add* the *new* category of "sexual orientation." H.R. 14752, 93rd Cong. (1974).
Congress considered and rejected this bill and ten other similar bills during the 1970s. *Sommers v. Budget Mktg., Inc.*, 667 F.2d 748, 750 (8th Cir. 1982); *Holloway v. Arthur Anderson Co.*, 566 F.2d 659, 662 n.6 (9th Cir. 1977).

122. In 1994, lawmakers introduced the Employment Non-Discrimination Act ("ENDA") that, like Rep. Abzug and Koch's earlier effort, was premised on the understanding that Title VII's protections against invidious "sex" discrimination related only to one's biological sex as male or female. H.R. 4636, 103rd Cong. (1994). From 1994 to the present, Congress has considered and rejected twenty versions of ENDA. *See* <u>http://bit.ly/ENDAhistory</u>.

123. Beginning in 2007, lawmakers have proposed a broader version of ENDA to add "gender identity" as a protected classification in the employment context. H.R. 2015, 110th Cong.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 28 of 82

(2007); H.R. 2981, 111th Cong. (2009); S. 811, 112th Cong. (2011). In addition, in 2013 and 2015, proposals were made to *add* to Title IX the *new* category of "gender identity." H.R. 1652, 113th Cong. (2013); S.439, 114th Cong. (2015). Notwithstanding the success or failure of these congressional proposals, they all affirmed Congress's enduring understanding that "sex," as a protected class, refers only to one's biological sex, as male or female, and not the radical reauthoring of the term now being foisted on Plaintiffs and their members by the collective efforts of Defendants.

124. When Congress redefined the term "sex" in the Pregnancy Discrimination Act to include discrimination "on the basis of pregnancy, childbirth, or related conditions," Pregnancy Discrimination Act of 1978, Pub. L. No. 95-555, § (k), 92 Stat. 2076, 2076 (1978), it indicated that "sex" discrimination occurs when females and males are not afforded the same avenues for advancement, i.e., when pregnant women may be legally fired or not hired. Thus, this amendment re-affirmed Congress's view that "sex" refers to biological sex, and not to an individual's self-perception of his or her "gender identity."

## 5. Congress has, in other contexts, barred discrimination on the basis of gender identity.

125. Although it has not done so under Title IX or Title VII, Congress has in *other* legislation expressed its intent to cover "gender identity" as a protected class. In 2010, President Obama signed into law hate crimes legislation, 18 U.S.C. § 249, which applies to, *inter alia*, "gender identity." *Id.* § 249(a)(2). The 2013 reauthorization of the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) prohibits recipients of certain federal grants from discriminating on the basis of both "sex" and "gender identity." 42 U.S.C. § 13925(b)(13)(A).

126. While Congress has added "gender identity" next to "sex" in other areas of federal law, it has not changed the terms of Title VII and Title IX.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 29 of 82

### 6. Anti-abortion provisions in or applicable to the Affordable Care Act

127. The text, context, and history of the Affordable Care Act reflect clear congressional intent that no group health plan is or should be required to cover abortion.

128. The Act provides that "[n]otwithstanding any other provision of this title (or any amendment made by this title) . . . nothing in this title (or any amendment made by this title), shall be construed to require a qualified health plan to provide coverage of [abortion] services . . . as part of its essential health benefits for any plan year." 42 U.S.C. § 18023(b)(1)(A)(i). The Act also provides that "the issuer of a qualified health plan shall determine whether or not the plan provides coverage of [abortion] services . . . as part of such benefits for the plan year." *Id.* § 18023(b)(1)(A)(ii).

129. The Affordable Care Act itself does not contain a restriction on the use of federal funds to pay for abortion services. This omission nearly defeated the Act's passage when a group of pro-life Democrats in the House of Representatives, led by Rep. Bart Stupak of Michigan, threatened to withhold their votes from the bill. To secure their votes, President Obama issued an executive order that prohibited the use of federal funds to pay for "abortion services ..., consistent with a longstanding Federal statutory restriction that is commonly known as the Hyde Amendment." Exec. Order No. 13,535, Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act's Consistency with Longstanding Restrictions on the Use of Federal Funds for Abortion, 3 C.F.R. 201 (2010).

130. In addition, the Weldon Amendment—a feature of every appropriations act for HHS since 2005—provides, "None of the funds made available in this Act [making appropriations for the Departments of Labor and HHS] may be made available to a Federal agency or program, or to a State or local government, if such agency, program, or government subjects any institutional or individual health care entity to discrimination on the basis that the health care entity does not provide, pay for, provide coverage of, or refer for abortions." Consolidated Appropriations Act of

#### Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 30 of 82

2012, Pub. L. No. 112-74, div. F, tit. V, § 507(d)(1), 125 Stat. 786, 1111 (2011). The term "health care entity" includes "a health insurance plan." *Id.* 

131. The Affordable Care Act and the Weldon Amendment prohibit the government from coercing the consciences of healthcare providers that respect the sanctity of life. Executive Order 13,535 reflects the federal government's longstanding avoidance of coercing the consciences of taxpayers that oppose abortion and government funding of abortion services.

## B. After Congress passed the ACA, and contrary to congressional will, federal agencies unilaterally sought to redefine sex discrimination.

132. For several decades, across a variety of statutes, federal agencies consistently interpreted "sex" to refer to biological differences between males and females. *See, e.g.*, A Policy Interpretation: Title IX & Intercollegiate Athletics, 44 Fed. Reg. 71,413 (Dec. 11, 1979) (listing "male and female" 28 times, "men and women" 24 times, and "men's and women's" 21 times); Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance, 34 C.F.R. pt. 106 (addressing expenditures for male and female teams).

133. As late as 2008, the U.S. Department of Justice was still arguing that "the term 'sex' . . . prohibits discrimination based on the biological state of a male or female," and that "a claim based on gender identity or transsexuality fails as outside the scope of [the term 'sex']." Def.'s Post-Trial Br. at 4, *Schroer v. Billington*, 577 F. Supp. 2d 293 (D.D.C. 2008) (No. 05-01090). Upon information and belief, no federal agency interpreted "sex" to include "gender identity" before 2010.

134. But in 2010, several months *after* enactment of the ACA, federal agencies issued a rash of letters, memos, executive orders, and regulations interpreting prohibitions on "sex" discrimination to include protections for "gender identity":

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 31 of 82

135. In July 2010, the Department of Housing and Urban Development "announced a new policy . . . treat[ing] gender identity discrimination . . . as gender discrimination under the Fair Housing Act."<sup>5</sup>

136. In October 2010, the Office for Civil Rights for the Department of Education (DOE) issued a "Dear Colleague" letter asserting that, "[w]hen students are subjected to harassment on the basis of their LGBT status, they may also . . . be subjected to forms of sex discrimination prohibited under Title IX."<sup>6</sup>

137. In February 2012, HUD issued a regulation forbidding discrimination on the basis of "gender identity" in HUD-assisted or insured housing.<sup>7</sup>

138. In April 2014, DOE issued a document stating that "Title IX's sex discrimination prohibition extends to claims of discrimination based on gender identity."<sup>8</sup>

139. In July 2014, the President amended a 50-year-old executive order by adding "gender identity" to a list of prohibited bases of discrimination in federal contracting.<sup>9</sup>

140. In August 2014, the Department of Labor issued a Directive that "discrimination based on gender identity or transgender status . . . is discrimination based on sex."<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Press Release, Shantae Goodloe, U.S. Dep't of Hous. and Urban Dev., HUD No. 10-139, HUD Issues Guidance on LGBT Housing Discrimination Complaints (July 1, 2010), <u>http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/press/press\_releases\_media\_advisories/2010/HUDNo.10-139.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Dear Colleague Letter on Harassment and Bullying from Russlynn Ali, Assistant Sec'y for Civil Rights, U.S. Dep't of Educ., Office for Civil Rights (Oct. 26, 2010), <u>http://www2.ed.gov/about/of-fices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-201010.pdf.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Equal Access to Housing in HUD Programs Regardless of Sexual Orientation or Gender Identity, 77 Fed. Reg. 5662 (Feb. 3, 2012), <u>https://www.regulations.gov/contentStreamer?documentId=HUD-2011-0014-0312&disposition=attachment&contentType=pdf.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Catherine E. Lhamon, Assistant Sec'y for Civil Rights, U.S. Dep't of Educ., Office for Civil Rights, *Questions and Answers on Title IX and Sexual Violence* (2014), <u>http://www2.ed.gov/about/of-fices/list/ocr/docs/qa-201404-title-ix.pdf.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Exec. Order No. 13,672, 79 Fed. Reg. 42,971 (July 21, 2014), <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2014-07-23/pdf/2014-17522.pdf.</u>

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 32 of 82

141. In December 2014, the Department of Justice (DOJ) issued a memo concluding that Title VII's reference to "sex" "encompasses discrimination based on gender identity, including transgender status."<sup>11</sup>

142. In May 2016, DOJ and DOE issued a "Dear Colleague Letter" stating that Title IX's prohibition on "sex discrimination . . . encompasses discrimination based on a student's gender identity."<sup>12</sup>

143. None of these agency actions involved a statute that used the term "gender identity."

## C. HHS's Section 1557 Rule

144. On September 8, 2015, HHS proposed a new rule to "interpret" Section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act (ACA), to extend Title IX's definition of "sex" to include "gender identity," and "termination of pregnancy," among other things. 80 Fed. Reg. 54,172, 54,216 (Sept. 8, 2015).

145. After considering comments made in response to the proposed rule, HHS published its final rule under Section 1557 on May 18, 2016. 81 Fed. Reg. 31,376 (May 18, 2016). The 1557 Rule expanded the definition even beyond the proposed rule to include an individual's "internal sense of gender, which may be male, female, neither, or a combination of male and female." *Id.* at 31,467. HHS stated in the Rule that "gender identity spectrum includes an array of possible gender identities beyond male and female," and individuals with "non-binary gender identities are protected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Patricia A. Shiu, Director, U.S. Dep't of Labor, Office of Fed. Contract Compliance Programs, Directive 2014-02, Gender Identity and Sex Discrimination (2014), <u>www.dol.gov/ofccp/regs/compliance/directives/dir2014\_02.html.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Mem. from the Attorney General on Treatment of Transgender Employment Discrimination Claims Under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Dec. 15, 2014) at 2, <u>https://www.justice.gov/sites/de-fault/files/opa/press-releases/attachments/2014/12/18/title\_vii\_memo.pdf.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> U.S. Dep't of Justice and U.S. Dep't of Educ., Dear Colleague Letter on Transgender Students, May 13, 2016, <u>http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-201605-title-ix-transgender.pdf.</u>

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 33 of 82

under the rule." *Id.* at 31,392, 31,384. HHS cited as authority the "Dear Colleague" letter issued jointly by the Department of Education and Department of Justice just five days earlier.<sup>13</sup>

146. The 1557 Rule also defines "sex" to include discrimination based upon "termination of pregnancy" in covered programs. 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,467; 45 C.F.R. § 92.4. HHS acknowledged that commentators had expressed concern that HHS would interpret this phrase as an abortion mandate, and that they had "urged" HHS "to state explicitly that neither Section 1557 nor the regulation imposes such a requirement." *Id.* at 31,388. HHS rejected such requests. Instead, it merely noted the existence of conscience protections in federal law and ACA limitations on requiring abortion coverage in certain contexts. *Id.* 

147. The 1557 Rule applies to a "covered entity," defined by HHS to include all entities that operate, offer, or contract for health programs and activities that receive any Federal financial assistance from HHS. 45 C.F.R. § 92.4. In light of this sweeping application, HHS has estimated the Rule will "likely cover[] almost all licensed physicians because they accept Federal financial assistance," including payments from Medicare and Medicaid.<sup>14</sup> Other observers have estimated that the Rule will apply "to over 133,000 (virtually all) hospitals, nursing homes, home health agencies, and similar provider facilities, about 445,000 clinical laboratories, 1,200 community health centers, 171 health-related schools, state Medicaid and CHIP programs, state public health agencies, federally facilitated and state-based marketplaces, at least 180 health insurers that market policies through the [federally facilitated marketplace] and state-based marketplaces, and up to 900,000 physicians.<sup>15</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> U.S. Dep't of Justice & U.S. Dep't of Educ., Dear Colleague Letter on Transgender Students, May 13, 2016, <u>http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-201605-title-ix-transgender.pdf.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Nondiscrimination in Health Programs and Activities, 80 Fed. Reg. 54,172, 54,195 (proposed Sept. 8, 2015); 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,445.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Timothy Jost, Implementing Health Reform: HHS Proposes Rule Implementing Anti-Discrimination ACA Provisions (Contraceptive Coverage Litigation Update), Health Affairs Blog (Sept. 4, 2015), <u>http://healthaffairs.org/blog/2015/09/04/implementing-health-reform-hhs-proposes-rule-implementing-anti-discrimination-aca-provisions/</u>.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 34 of 82

148. The 1557 Rule requires covered entities to provide health programs or activities in accordance with HHS's expansive and unwarranted definition of "sex." This includes a number of new requirements listed below.

# 1. Healthcare professionals must perform or refer for gender transition procedures.

149. The 1557 Rule requires covered employers, and their healthcare providers and professionals, to perform (or refer for) gender transition procedures if a physician or healthcare provider offers analogous services in other contexts. For example, "[a] provider specializing in gynecological services that previously declined to provide a medically necessary hysterectomy for a transgender man would have to revise its policy to provide the procedure for transgender individuals in the same manner it provides the procedure for other individuals." 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,455. HHS explained that a hysterectomy in this gender transition context would be "medically necessary to treat gender dysphoria," *id.* at 31,429, thereby declaring medical necessity, benefit, and prudence as a matter of federal law, and without regard to the opinions, judgment, and conscientious considerations of the many medical professionals that hold views to the contrary.

150. HHS has issued this mandate despite the widespread, well-documented, ongoing debate about the medical risks and ethics associated with various gender transition procedures, even within the transgender community itself. In fact, HHS's own medical experts recently wrote, "Based on a thorough review of the clinical evidence available at this time, there is not enough evidence to determine whether gender reassignment surgery improves health outcomes for Medicare beneficiaries with gender dysphoria."<sup>16</sup> The evidence showed that "[t]here were conflicting (inconsistent) study results—of the best designed studies, some reported benefits *while others reported harms*." *Id.* (emphasis added). Yet the 1557 Rule attempts to preempt the serious medical and moral

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Proposed Decision Memo for Gender Dysphoria and Gender Reassignment Surgery (June 2, 2016).

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 35 of 82

debate about gender transition procedures by concluding in the context of physicians offering "health services" that a "categorization of all transition-related treatment . . . as experimental, is outdated and not based on current standards of care." 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,435; *see also id.* at 31,429.

151. In creating this mandate, HHS disregarded the commenters that asked HHS to make clear that health services need only be covered if they are deemed to be "medically necessary" or "medically appropriate" in the professional opinion of those charged with the care of the patient at issue. In response to these comments, HHS stated that under its Rule, some procedures "related to gender transition" may be required even if they were not "strictly identified as medically necessary or appropriate." *Id.* at 31,435. Thus, under the Rule, if a doctor would perform a mastectomy as part of a medically-necessary treatment for breast cancer, it would be illegal for the same doctor to decline to perform a mastectomy for a gender transition, even if the doctor believed that removing healthy breast tissue was contrary to the patient's medical interest.

## 2. Healthcare facilities and professionals must alter their speech and medical advice.

152. As discussed above, HHS has concluded, in the context of physicians offering "health services," that a "categorization of all transition-related treatment . . . as experimental, is outdated and not based on current standards of care." *Id.* In so doing, HHS has seriously curbed a Catholic healthcare entity's ability to maintain policies and practices reflecting a contrary view, even if such a view is based on the entity's religious convictions, conscientious beliefs, and best medical judgment. This Rule thus forces Catholic healthcare providers to alter their speech and medical advice.

153. Under the 1557 Rule, HHS compels the speech of healthcare institutions and professionals in several ways. For example, the Rule mandates revisions to healthcare providers' written policies, requiring express affirmations that gender transition-related procedures will be provided, *id.* at 31455, even if such revisions do not reflect the entity's medical judgment, values, or 35

100895462\_1

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 36 of 82

beliefs. Second, it requires physicians to use gender-transition affirming language in all situations regardless of circumstance, and provides as just one example the requirement that medical providers use "a transgender individual's preferred name and pronoun." *Id.* at 31,406. HHS also relies upon a transgender medical guidance document stating that "[m]ental health professionals should not impose a binary view of gender." *Id.* at 31,435. Thus, to avoid facing liability for being discriminatory under the proposed rule, healthcare providers are compelled to speak by revising their policy to endorse gender transition-related services, to express language that is affirming of gender transition, and to express a non-binary view of gender. Further, by treating as discriminatory a medical view of "transition-related treatment . . . as experimental,"<sup>17</sup> HHS coerces CBA-member healthcare providers to speak about these procedures the way the government wants them to, even though they disagree, and even though they believe they are disserving their patients by concealing the information the government wants concealed.

# 3. Covered employers and insurance providers must offer employee benefits covering gender transition procedures.

154. The Rule prohibits certain employers, health programs, or insurance plans from exercising judgment as to what they cover. HHS stated, "[A]n explicit, categorical (or automatic) exclusion or limitation of coverage for all health services related to gender transition is unlawful on its face." *Id.* at 31,429.

155. For example, if a doctor concludes that a hysterectomy "is medically necessary to treat gender dysphoria," the patient's employer or insurance plan would be required to cover the procedure on the same basis that it would cover it for other conditions (like cancer). *Id.* HHS also stated that the "range of transition-related services, which includes treatment for gender dysphoria, is not limited to surgical treatments and may include, but is not limited to, services such as hormone

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,435.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 37 of 82

therapy and psychotherapy, which may occur over the lifetime of the individual." *Id.* at 31435-36. As such, coverage is required under the 1557 Rule notwithstanding the rights of employers that only offer employee health benefits consistent with the religious beliefs and values of their organization.

156. This conflict with religious employers extends beyond treatment surrounding gender dysphoria, because some required procedures (such as elective hysterectomies) result in sterilization, and the 1557 Rule also extends to "termination of pregnancy." 45 C.F.R. § 92.4.

157. Although HHS states that laws protecting religious objections to abortion (or "termination of pregnancy") apply to its Rule, HHS reads these protections narrowly. For example, HHS recently approved California forcing all insurers to include abortion coverage, even for objecting religious institutions.<sup>18</sup> HHS thereby denied that the Weldon Amendment protects the rights of religious employers that wish to exclude abortion coverage from their health plans.

158. This health benefit requirement of the 1557 Rule applies to any of the following types of employers who receive HHS funding: (1) any entity principally involved in providing or administering health services (including hospitals, nursing homes, counseling centers, physicians' offices, etc.), (2) any type of employer who receives HHS funding for the primary purpose of funding an "employee health benefit program," or (3) any entity such as a university with a health training or research program that receives HHS funding or Federal financial assistance for that "health program or activity."<sup>19</sup>

159. Thus, any such employers who have always offered employee health benefits that reflect their religious or conscientious beliefs, and excluded gender transition procedures from employee benefits, will now be considered discriminatory under the Rule.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Letter from Jocelyn Samuels, Director of HHS Office of Civil Rights to Catherine W. Short, *et al.* (June 21, 2016 (available at: <u>https://adflegal.blob.core.windows.net/web-content-dev/docs/default-source/documents/resources/media-resources/cdmhc-investigation-closure-letter.pdf?sfvrsn=2</u>).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *Id.* at 31,472, 45 C.F.R. § 92.208; *see also* 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,437.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 38 of 82

160. Recently, CBA members have begun receiving notices from their insurance companies about how their plans will be changing as a result of the 1557 Rule. Exhibits E and F are, respectively, the gender dysphoria policies that United Healthcare and Blue Cross Blue Shield of Kansas City have delivered to CBA member dioceses. These notices reflect the manner in which covered insurance companies are interpreting HHS's Rule and show concretely how the Rule will soon begin to affect CBA members, include Catholic dioceses, that are *not* "covered entities" under the Rule.

# a. United Healthcare "Gender Dysphoria Rider"

161. This fall, a Catholic diocese that is a CBA member received communications from its health insurance company, United Healthcare, that included a "Gender Dysphoria Rider." Ex. E.

162. The Rider informs "Enrolling Groups" that their plan will cover "Benefits for the treatment of Gender Dysphoria" and that any "exclusion for sex transformation operations and related services . . . is deleted." *Id.* at 1, 3.

163. Under the Rider, "[b]enefits for the treatment of Gender Dysphoria" include psychotherapy, "[c]ross-sex hormone therapy," and "[s]urgery for the treatment of Gender Dysphoria." *Id*.

- a. *Male to female surgeries* include: clitoroplasty (creation of a clitoris), labiaplasty (creation of a labia), orchiectomy (removal of testicles), penectomy (removal of penis), vaginoplasty (creation of a vagina), and urethroplasty (reconstruction of female urethra). *Id.*
- b. *Female to male surgeries* include: bilateral mastectomy or breast reduction, hysterectomy (removal of uterus), metoidioplasty (creation of penis, using clitoris), penile prosthesis, phalloplasty (creation of penis), saplingo-oopherectomy (removal of fallopian tubes and ovaries), scrotoplasty (creation of scrotum), testicular

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 39 of 82

prosthesis, vulvectomy (removal of vulva), urethroplasty (construction of male urethra), and vaginectomy (removal of vagina). *Id.* at 1-2.

164. After receiving this Rider in the mail, the CBA member diocese called its insurance company to demand that the Rider be removed from its 2017 plan.

165. The CBA member diocese's insurance company refused, informing the diocese that its 2017 plan must include the Gender Dysphoria Rider as a result of HHS's 1557 Rule.

# b. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Kansas City "Treatment of Gender Dysphoria" Policy

166. This fall, another CBA Member Catholic diocese received communications from its health insurance company, Blue Cross Blue Shield of Kansas City, that included a "Treatment of Gender Dysphoria Policy." Ex. F.

167. The Policy informs recipients that "[i]f coverage for gender reassignment surgery is available per the member's benefit, Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Kansas City (Blue KC) will provide coverage for treatment of gender dysphoria including gender reassignment surgery when it is determined to be medically necessary because the criteria shown below are met." *Id.* at 1.

168. Under the Policy, plans will cover "[p]sychotherapy for gender dysphoria" and "Continuous Hormone Replacement Therapy" with "[h]ormones of the desired gender." *Id.* The following surgeries "would be considered **medically necessary** when performed as part of a medically necessary initial gender reassignment":

initial mastectomy/breast reduction; hysterectomy; salpingo-oophorectomy; colpectomy; metoidioplasty; vaginoplasty; colovaginoplasty; orchiectomy; penectomy; clitoroplasty; labiaplasty; scrotoplasty, urethroplasty, phalloplasty, testicular implants, colovaginoplasty, cenectomy, clitoroplasty, vulvoplasty, penile skin inversion, repair of introitus, construction of vagina with graft, coloproctostomy, and urethromeatoplasty.

*Id.* at 3.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 40 of 82

169. After receiving this Policy in the mail, the CBA member diocese called its insurance company to see whether the Policy applied to its 2017 plan.

170. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Kansas City informed the CBA member diocese that its Treatment of Gender Dysphoria Policy would apply to the diocese's 2017 plan as a result of HHS's 1557 Rule.

# 4. Sex-specific healthcare facilities or programs, including shower facilities or hospital wards, must be opened to individuals based on gender identity.

171. With regard to facilities, the 1557 Rule states that even for sex-specific facilities such as "shower facilities" offered by healthcare providers, individuals may not be excluded "based on their gender identity." 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,409.

172. When Title IX—the foundation for the 1557 Rule—was enacted, Congress ensured that it protected and preserved the privacy rights of individuals in intimate areas. *See* 20 U.S.C. § 1686, 117 Cong. Rec. 30407 (1971), 117 Cong. Rec. 39260 (1971), 117 Cong. Rec. 39263 (1971), and 118 Cong. Rec. 5807 (1972). HHS's predecessor, the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, promulgated regulations guaranteeing the privacy of individuals in intimate areas. *See* 34 C.F.R. § 106.32(b); 34 C.F.R. § 106.33 ("A recipient may provide separate toilet, locker room, and shower facilities on the basis of sex . . . ."). But HHS wholly disregarded any "legal right to privacy" that could be violated "simply by permitting another person access to a sex-specific program or facility which corresponds to their gender identity." 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,389, 31,409.

173. With regard to other health programs, HHS stated that sex-specific health programs or activities are allowable only where the covered entity can demonstrate "an exceedingly persuasive justification, that is, that the sex-specific program is substantially related to the achievement of an important health-related or scientific objective." *Id.* at 31,468. HHS stated that it "will expect a covered entity to supply objective evidence, and empirical data if available, to justify the need to

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 41 of 82

restrict participation in the program to only one sex," and in "no case will [HHS] accept a justification that relies on overly broad generalizations about the sexes." *Id.* 

#### 5. Covered entities must provide assurances of compliance.

174. HHS now requires that covered entities applying for federal financial assistance affirm up front that they will comply with HHS's 1557 Rule. *Id.* at 31,468; 45 C.F.R. § 92.5. The HHS-690 Form, which now references Section 1557, now requires applicants to certify that "no person in the United States shall, on the ground of . . . sex . . . be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any health program or activity for which the Applicant receives Federal financial assistance from the Department."<sup>20</sup>

# 6. Covered entities must post notices of compliance.

175. The Rule also requires covered entities to post notices regarding compliance with the Rule in conspicuous locations by October 16, 2016 (90 days from the effective date). HHS provided a sample notice in Appendix A to the 1557 Rule, which states in relevant part that the covered entity "does not exclude people or treat them differently because of race, color, national origin, age, disability, or sex."<sup>21</sup>

# 7. Covered entities must train their employees on the 1557 Rule.

176. Covered entities will be required to train employees on the requirements of the 1557 Rule. *See* 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,452, 31,458-59. This training mandate creates ethical challenges, notably a compelled speech problem, for CBA members in the healthcare field.

177. HHS estimates that covered entities will have to spend \$371.7 million dollars to train their employees on the requirements in the 1557 Rule. 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,452.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> HHS, Assurance of Compliance, <u>https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/hhs-690.pdf</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,472, 45 C.F.R. § 92, App. A, <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/articles/2016/05/18/2016-1458/nondiscrimination-in-health-programs-and-activities#h-139</u>.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 42 of 82

#### D. HHS rejected calls to accommodate religious exercise in its 1557 Rule.

178. HHS was well aware that its ACTS Mandate would substantially burden the religious exercise of countless religious hospitals, churches, ministries, and other employers. *See id.* at 31,378.

179. During the comment period, many religious organizations voiced their alarm at the scope of HHS's proposed rule and explained why it was essential for HHS to include adequate protections for religious employers and healthcare organizations. For example, the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops joined with the National Association of Evangelicals, the Christian Medical Association, the National Catholic Bioethics Center, and other religious organizations to submit comments explaining how HHS's proposed rules would affect religious employers and urging HHS to protect religious exercise. *See* Comments from USCCB et al., *supra*, ¶ 64 n.2.

180. Section 1557 does not independently prohibit discrimination, but instead references four preexisting laws: Title VI, Title IX, the Age Discrimination Act, and the Rehabilitation Act. *See supra*,  $\P$  83.

181. HHS faithfully incorporated the exemptions applicable to Title VI, the AgeDiscrimination Act, and the Rehabilitation Act into its Final Rule. 81 Fed Reg. at 31,470; 45 C.F.R.§ 92.101(c) (emphasis added):

The exceptions applicable to Title VI *apply* to discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin under this part. The exceptions applicable to Section 504 *apply* to discrimination on the basis of disability under this part. The exceptions applicable to the Age Act *apply* to discrimination on the basis of age under this part.

182. However, when it came to Title IX, HHS changed course. Unlike its treatment of the other four statutes cited in Section 1557, HHS refused to incorporated Title IX's religious exemption. 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,380.

183. Instead of incorporating Title IX's religious exemption or otherwise recognizing the burden that its rule would place on religious healthcare providers and other religious employers, HHS merely stated that religious objectors could assert claims under existing statutory protections

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 43 of 82

for religious freedom. *Id.* at 31,376. But HHS also failed to provide any mechanism by which a religious entity could determine if it was entitled to any existing religious protections under the law.

184. The ACTS Mandate is, in this regard, even more extreme and unyielding than the contraception and abortifacient mandate that HHS has created based on another section of the Affordable Care Act. *See Sharpe Holdings, Inc. v. U.S. Dep't of Health & Human Servs.*, 801 F.3d 927, 933-35 (8th Cir. 2015) (describing HHS's contraceptive and abortifacient mandate).

185. While HHS reluctantly decided to exempt a narrowly defined group of "religious employers" from its abortifacient and contraception mandate, *id.* at 933, it declined to exempt *any* religious employers from the ACTS Mandate.

186. Many non-exempt religious employers avoid HHS's contraception and abortifacient mandate (though at substantial cost) by maintaining a grandfathered group health plan. *Id.* There is no grandfathered group plan exemption from the ACTS Mandate.

# E. The EEOC, invoking Title VII, will impose many of the requirements of the 1557 Rule against non-covered entities.

187. Although the HHS 1557 Rule only applies directly to "covered entities," the 1557 Rule repeatedly announces EEOC's policy to enforce a similarly broad definition of sex discrimination against other employers under Title VII. The 1557 Rule declares, "Where . . . [HHS] lacks jurisdiction over an employer . . . , [HHS] typically will refer or transfer the matter to the EEOC and allow that agency to address the matter." *Id.* at 31,432. When Section 1557 does not apply, similar claims can be brought against employers under Title VII. *Id.* at 31,404. HHS has decided that, for non-healthcare entities, Title VII is better suited to "address claims that an employer has discriminated in the provision of benefits, including health benefits, to its employees." *Id.* at 31,437.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 44 of 82

188. The EEOC has already confirmed to HHS it will cooperate in such matters, indicating that "the date a complaint was filed with [HHS] will be deemed the date it was filed with the EEOC." *Id.* at 31,432

189. In the context of Title VII, EEOC has adopted similar substantive standards as HHS. EEOC "interprets [Title VII's] sex discrimination provision as prohibiting discrimination against employees on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity." EEOC, *What You Should Know About EEOC & the Enforcement Protections for LGBT Workers*, ("EEOC Statement")

https://www.eeoc.gov/eeoc/newsroom/wysk/enforcement protections lgbt workers.cfm.

190. In December 2012, EEOC adopted its Strategic Enforcement Plan for fiscal years 2013-2016 ("2013 SEP"). Among other things, EEOC expressly prioritized "coverage of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender individuals under Title VII's sex discrimination provisions." EEOC, *Strategic Enforcement Plan FY 2013-2016*, https://www.eeoc.gov/eeoc/plan/sep.cfm.

191. Pursuant to the 2013 SEP, EEOC began to aggressively advance its interpretation that "sex" includes "gender identity" through litigation. See EEOC, Fact Sheet: Recent EEOC Litigation Regarding Title VII & LGBT-Related Discrimination, https://www.eeoc.gov/

<u>eeoc/litigation/selected/lgbt\_facts.cfm</u>. EEOC brought numerous enforcement actions directly against employers based on alleged discrimination against transgender employees.<sup>22</sup> It also filed amicus briefs in several cases advancing the position that discrimination on the basis of sex includes discrimination based on gender identity.<sup>23</sup> For example, in *Eure v. Sage Corp.*, EEOC argued to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> EEOC v. Bojangles Rests., Inc., Civ. No. 5:16-cv-00654-BO (E.D.N.C. filed July 6, 2016); EEOC v. R.G. & G.R. Harris Funeral Homes Inc., Civ. No. 2:14-cv-13710-SFC-DRG (E.D. Mich. filed Sept. 25, 2014); Broussard v. First Tower Loan LLC, Civ. No. 2:15-cv-01161-CJB-SS (E.D. La.) (court granted EEOC's motion to intervene on Sep. 17, 2015); EEOC v. Deluxe Fin. Servs. Corp., Civ. No. 0:15-cv-02646-ADM-SER (D. Minn. filed June 4, 2015); EEOC v. Lakeland Eye Clinic, P.A., Civ. No. 8:14-cv-2421-T35 AEP (M.D. Fla. filed Sep. 25, 2014);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Dawson v. H & H Elec., Inc., No. 4:14cv00583 SWW ((E.D. Ark.) (amicus brief filed June 26, 2015); Eure v. Sage Corp., No. 14-51311 (5th Cir.) (amicus brief filed Apr. 22, 2015); Jamal v. Saks & Co.,

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 45 of 82

Fifth Circuit that Title VII bars discrimination based on "nonconformance with a sex stereotype or norm" and therefore that "transgender discrimination is cognizable under Title VII." Br. of EEOC as Amicus Curiae at 12, 14, *Eure v. Sage Corp.*, No. 14-51311 (5th Cir.) (filed Apr. 22, 2015).

192. EEOC recently updated its Strategic Enforcement Plan for fiscal years 2017-2021. "Protecting lesbians, gay men, bisexuals and transgender (LGBT) people from discrimination based on sex" continues to be a top priority. EEOC, Strategic Enforcement Plan Fiscal Years 2017-2021, <u>https://www.eeoc.gov/eeoc/plan/sep-2017.cfm</u>.

193. Dignity Health is one of the largest healthcare systems in the United States. It has many Catholic hospitals. In June 2016, Josef Robinson, a transgender male, sued Dignity Health for maintaining an employee health plan that categorically excluded coverage for gender transition services. Robinson's complaint asserted a violation of Title VII, claiming that "[d]iscrimination on the basis of transgender status or gender nonconformity is discrimination on the basis of 'sex' under Title VII," and that the hospital's exclusion of transgender surgery constituted a violation of Section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act. EEOC filed an amicus brief in the case in support of Robinson, arguing that Robinson "has been denied access to medically necessary treatment for his gender dysphoria, a serious health condition directly related to the fact that he is transgender." Br. of EEOC as Amicus Curiae at 4, *Robinson v. Dignity Health*, 16-cv-03035 YGR (N.D. Cal.) (filed Aug. 22, 2016). Accordingly, EEOC argued, Robinson was a victim of "sex discrimination" under Title VII. *See id.* at 12-13.

No. 4:14-cv-02782 (S.D. Tex.) (amicus brief submitted on Jan. 22, 2015); Lewis v. High Point Reg'l Health Sys., No. 5:13-cv-838-BO (E.D.N.C.) (amicus brief filed Oct. 30, 2014); Chavez v. Credit Nation Auto Sales, LLC, No. 1:13-cv-0312 (N.D. Ga.) (amicus brief filed June 5, 2014); Pacheco v. Freedom Buick GMC Truck, Inc., Civ. No. 7:10-cv-00116 (W.D. Tex.) (amicus brief submitted on Oct. 17, 2011).

# F. The ACTS Mandate's enforcement mechanisms

194. CBA members that do not comply with the ACTS Mandate may face enforcement actions initiated by federal agencies or by individuals who allege they have been discriminated against.

195. Catholic entities that are "covered entities" under the 1557 Rule are subject to enforcement actions brought by HHS's Office of Civil Rights ("OCR"). If the Director of OCR concludes that a covered entity has discriminated on the basis of "gender identity" or "termination of pregnancy," the Director may require the entity to take "remedial action . . . to overcome the effects of the discrimination." 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,468; 45 C.F.R. § 92.6(a). These remedial actions will be directed at the individual who HHS determines was discriminated against. If the covered entity refuses to take "remedial action" to OCR's satisfaction, OCR may initiate an administrative procedure to terminate the entity's HHS funding. *Id.* at 31,472, 31,439; 45 C.F.R. § 92.301.

196. OCR also has the power to compel covered entities to record and submit compliance reports under Section 1557. 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,439, 31,472; 45 C.F.R. § 92.301.

197. As indicated above, where HHS finds it does not have jurisdiction over an alleged discriminatory act, it will refer the matter to the EEOC for enforcement under Title VII. Similar to HHS's authority under Section 1557, the EEOC has authority to investigate alleged Title VII violations and will ask violators to voluntarily take corrective action for the discriminatory behavior. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(a).

198. If HHS or the EEOC is dissatisfied with the Catholic employer's corrective remedial actions, they may refer the matter to the Department of Justice with a recommendation that it bring a federal lawsuit to enforce federal civil rights laws. *See, e.g.*, 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,439, 31,440.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 47 of 82

199. Section 1557 and Title VII also each create a private right of action. This means that individuals who believe they have been discriminated against on the basis of gender identity may bring their own federal lawsuits. *See, e.g., id.* These laws can also be enforced by class action suits.

200. The sanctions for failing to comply with the ACTS Mandate are severe. They include compensatory damages, punitive damages, treble damages, civil penalties, attorney fees, injunctive relief, and even loss of federal funding. For some Catholic entities, their very existence may be at stake.

201. <u>Loss of federal funding</u>: Catholic healthcare entities subject to the 1557 Rule risk the denial or discontinuance of federal funding if they do not comply.<sup>24</sup> As noted above, covered entities are required to submit HHS Form 690, which says that compliance is "a condition of continued receipt of Federal financial assistance" and authorizes the government "to seek judicial enforcement of this assurance."

202. <u>Civil and criminal penalties and treble damages</u>: Covered entities that submit HHS Form 690 but do not comply with the 1557 Rule may be liable under the False Claims Act, which authorizes a civil penalty of up to \$11,000 for each false claim, "plus 3 times the amount of damages which the Government sustains because of" the false claim.<sup>25</sup> False claims related to a health program may also subject responsible persons to fines and up to five years imprisonment under 18 U.S.C. § 1035.

203. <u>Compensatory damages</u>: Catholic employers that violate the ACTS Mandate may be subject to compensatory damages under Section 1557 or under Title VII. 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,472 ("The enforcement mechanisms available for and provided under . . . Title IX . . . shall apply for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,472, 45 C.F.R. § 92.301 ("The enforcement mechanisms available for and provided under Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964... shall apply for purposes of Section 1557.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1); Dep't of Justice, The False Claims Act: A Primer, <u>https://www.justice.gov/sites/default/files/civil/legacy/2011/04/22/C-FRAUDS\_FCA\_Primer.pdf</u>.

### Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 48 of 82

purposes of Section 1557."); *Franklin v. Gwinnett Cnty. Pub. Schs.*, 503 U.S. 60, 76 (1992) (compensatory damages available under Title IX); 42 U.S.C. §1981a(b)(3) (compensatory damages available under Title VII). Compensatory damages may include pecuniary losses and even nonpecuniary losses such as "emotional pain" and "mental anguish." 42 U.S.C. § 1981a(b)(3); *Williams v. Pharmacia, Inc.*, 137 F.3d 944, 954 (7th Cir. 1998).

204. <u>Punitive damages</u>: Punitive damages are available under Title VII if the employer acted "with malice or with reckless indifference to the federally protected rights" of an employee. 42 U.S.C. § 1981a(b)(1). Punitive damages are subject to the same statutory caps that are imposed for nonpecuniary losses. *See id.* § 1981a(b)(3).

205. <u>Injunctive relief</u>: Courts may order broad forms of injunctive relief under Title VII, see 42 U.S.C. §2000e-5(g)(1); United States v. Criminal Sheriff, Parish of Orleans, 19 F.3d 238, 239 (5th Cir. 1994), and may even mandate that employers adopt certain policies, see, e.g., Morris v. Am. Nat'l Can Corp., 730 F. Supp. 1489, 1498 (E.D. Mo.1989), aff'd in part, rev'd in part on other grounds, 941 F.2d 710 (8th Cir. 1991); Robinson v. Jacksonville Shipyards, Inc., 760 F. Supp. 1486 (M.D. Fla. 1991). Title IX, and hence Section 1557, also permit broad injunctive relief. See Roberts v. Colo. State Bd. of Agriculture, 998 F.2d 824, 826 (10th Cir. 1993).

206. <u>Attorney's fees</u>: Under Title VII and Section 1557, a prevailing party is entitled to costs and attorney's fees. See 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(k); *id.* § 1988(b).

# VI. The ACTS Mandate burdens the religious exercise of the CBA and its members

207. Although the Section 1557 Final Rule applies directly only to "covered entities," the ACTS Mandate the Rule creates is much broader, impacting all Catholic employers.

208. The decisions of CBA members to refuse to cooperate in their patients', employees', or plan beneficiaries' efforts to undergo gender transition procedures qualify as the exercise of religion.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 49 of 82

209. The decisions of CBA members to refuse, for religious reasons, to cooperate in their patients', employees', or plan beneficiaries' efforts to obtain an abortion qualify as the exercise of religion.

# A. ACTS Mandate's effects on CBA members that are covered entities – medical services

210. The ACTS Mandate's regulatory scheme makes it virtually impossible for CBA members that qualify as a "covered entity" to continue their healthcare ministries. Their options are: (1) provide gender transition services, (2) cease providing any services that HHS may correlate with gender transition, (3) continue to meet patients' needs but refuse to provide gender transition services, (4) stop participating in all HHS-related programs, including Medicaid and Medicare; and (5) cease providing health services and activities.

211. Option 1, directly providing gender transition and abortion services, is contrary to Catholic values and would give rise to scandal.

212. Directly providing gender transition services is contrary to Catholic values.

213. This situation gives rise to scandal and the loss of members' reputation because patients, employees, and the larger community would perceive that CBA-member healthcare providers profess one thing but do another. Such scandal devastates ministry.

214. Option 2, ceasing providing any services that HHS may correlate with gender transition and abortion, would be ruinous for covered entity CBA members and their patients.

215. In order to avoid the ACTS Mandate, CBA members could refuse to perform any procedure that might be used as part of a gender transition, such as hysterectomies, mastectomies, hormone treatments, and plastic surgery.

216. Doing so would prevent these CBA members from being able to use such procedures to address medical illnesses or conditions—such as uterine cancer, breast cancer, menopause, and miscarriage—thus injuring their healing ministries.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 50 of 82

217. Artificially restricting their medical services in this manner would cause these CBA members to incur financial losses, lose valuable employees, and suffer other injuries.

218. Absent injunctive relief from this Court, option 3 is ruinous because it would expose covered entity CBA members to HHS and EEOC enforcement actions and other penalties as described above.

219. Option 4, stopping participation in HHS-related programs, including Medicaid and Medicare, would severely penalize CBA members for maintaining their religious convictions. This would also require them to severely curtail their services to the poor, disabled, and the elderly, thus injuring their healing ministries.

220. Option 5, ceasing their health services and activities, would burden CBA members' religious exercise.

# B. ACTS Mandate's effects on CBA members that are covered entities – insurance coverage

221. The ACTS Mandate also affects covered entities' ability to offer their employees health benefits that reflect their Catholic values. Their options are: (1) provide a group health plan that includes coverage for gender transition and abortion services, (2) provide a group health plan that excludes coverage for gender transition and abortion services, or (3) cease providing health coverage.

222. Option 1, providing a group health plan that covers gender transition and abortion services, is contrary to Catholic values and would give rise to scandal.

223. Absent injunctive relief from this Court, option 2 is ruinous because it would expose covered entity CBA members to HHS and EEOC enforcement actions and other penalties as described above in paragraphs 175 to 187.

224. Option 3, dropping health benefits, would burden CBA members' exercise of religion because:

- a. Catholic values commend providing just compensation and benefits supportive of family values, including, whenever possible, health care;
- b. Eliminating health insurance for employees subjects CBA members to annual excise taxes of \$2,000 per employee after the first 30 employees, 26 U.S.C. § 4980H(a), (c)(1); and
- c. Eliminating health insurance would put CBA members at a significant disadvantage in the market for recruiting the best workers and thereby harm the operation of their ministries.

# C. ACTS Mandate's effects on insured CBA members

225. The ACTS Mandate also injures CBA members who are not covered entities, and are thus not directly regulated by the 1557 Rule. Regardless whether a CBA member is a covered entity, the ACTS Mandate restricts its ability to acquire a group health plan that reflects Catholic values. This is because group insurers are covered entities that are required, under the 1557 Rule, to cover both transgender services and abortion.

226. For CBA members that sponsor an insured group plan, their options are: (1) provide a group health plan that includes coverage for gender transition and abortion services, (2) provide a group health plan that excludes coverage for gender transition and abortion services, or (3) cease providing health coverage.

227. Option 1, providing a group health plan that covers gender transition and abortion services is contrary to Catholic values and would give rise to scandal.

228. Defendants' ACTS Mandate has made option 2, providing a group health plan that excludes gender transition and abortion services, either impossible or unduly burdensome.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 52 of 82

229. Insured CBA members have been told by their insurers that, as a direct result of the 1557 Rule, their 2017 plan must include gender transition coverage. Insurers may also conclude that the 1557 Rule requires plans to include abortion coverage.

230. Absent injunctive relief from this Court, even if a non-covered entity CBA member were able to secure a morally compliant insured plan, option 2 is ruinous because it would expose CBA members to EEOC enforcement actions and other penalties as described above in paragraphs 194 to 206.

231. Option 3, dropping health benefits, would burden CBA members' exercise of religion as described above in paragraph 224.

# D. ACTS Mandate's effects on self-insured CBA members

232. The ACTS Mandate also injures CBA members who have a self-insured employee group health plan. For CBA members that sponsor a self-insured group health plan, their options are: (1) provide a group health plan that includes coverage for gender transition services, (2) provide a group health plan that excludes coverage for gender transition services, or (3) cease providing health coverage.

233. Option 1, providing a group health plan that covers gender transition services, is contrary to Catholic values and would give rise to scandal.

234. Defendants' ACTS Mandate has made option 2, providing a group health plan that excludes gender transition and abortion coverage, either impossible or unduly burdensome.

235. Self-insured CBA members have been told by their TPAs that they will not administer a 2017 plan that categorically excludes all gender transition coverage unless the CBA member agrees to indemnify the TPA. TPAs may also find that the 1557 Rule compels them to seek an indemnification agreement before excluding abortion coverage.

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 53 of 82

236. Absent injunctive relief from this Court, even if a non-covered entity CBA member were able to secure a morally compliant self-insured plan, option 2 is ruinous because it would expose members to EEOC enforcement actions and other penalties as described above in paragraphs 175 to 187.

237. Option 3, dropping healthcare benefits, would burden CBA members' exercise of religion as described above in paragraph 205.

#### VII. URGENT NEED FOR RELIEF

238. The ACTS Mandate applies to group health plans on the first plan year renewal beginning on January 1, 2017. Many CBA members have plan renewal years beginning on January 1, 2017. On that date, CBA members must include gender transition services in their sponsored health plans or else risk enforcement actions, civil lawsuits, and other penalties.

239. Insured CBA members have been notified by their insurance providers that upon renewal their sponsored health plan will include a gender dysphoria policy as a direct result of the ACTS Mandate. *See* Exs. E and F.

240. As a direct result of the ACTS Mandate, several self-insured CBA members have been notified by their TPAs that they must indemnify their TPA, and thus take on a considerable contingent liability, in order to maintain their exclusion of all gender transition coverage.

241. CBA members that are covered entities are currently threatened by the ACTS Mandate with administrative investigations, civil lawsuits, and various penalties if they continue to offer health services in a manner that reflect their Catholic convictions.

242. All CBA members are currently threatened by the ACTS Mandate with administrative investigations, civil lawsuits, and various penalties if they continue to offer employee health benefits in a manner that reflect their Catholic convictions.

# VIII. CAUSES OF ACTION

# <u>COUNT I</u>

# Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act Agency Action Not in Accordance with Law

243. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

244. Defendants are "agencies" under the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 551(1), and both the 1557 Rule and the EEOC Statement complained of herein constitute "rules" under the APA, *id.* § 551(4), and constitute "[a]gency action made reviewable by statute and final agency action for which there is no other adequate remedy in a court," *id.* § 704.

245. The APA prohibits agency actions that are "not in accordance with law." *Id.* 706(2)(A). The 1557 Rule and the EEOC Statement are not in accordance with law for a number of independent reasons.

246. The 1557 Rule will require physicians to perform gender transition procedures regardless of whether those procedures are "medically necessary" or "medically appropriate." It is not in accordance with law for HHS to require medical professionals to perform procedures that may not be necessary or appropriate, and may in fact be harmful to the patients.

247. The 1557 Rule also states that a physician's view of gender transition procedures as "experimental" is "outdated and not based on current standards of care." 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,435; *see also id.* at 31,429. It is not in accordance with law for HHS to dictate appropriate medical views on the necessity and experimental nature of gender transition procedures, and to dictate what constitutes best standards of care in an area of science and medicine that is being hotly debated in the medical community.

248. The 1557 Rule is not in accordance with Section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act (42 U.S.C. § 18116) or Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. Neither

### Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 55 of 82

Section 1557 nor Title IX uses the term "sex" to include "gender identity." HHS's attempt to expand the definition is not in accordance with law within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).

249. The EEOC Statement is not in accordance with Title VII. Title VII does not use the term "sex" to include "gender identity." EEOC's attempt to expand the definition is not in accordance with law within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).

250. HHS's failure to include in the 1557 Rule a religious exemption that parallels the religious exemption in Title IX is also not in accordance with law within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. 706(2)(A).

251. HHS's failure to include an exclusion for sterilization and sterilization-related services is not in accordance with law within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A) because it is inconsistent with the Church Amendments, 42 U.S.C. § 300a-7(b), which protect the right of healthcare entities who receive federal funding to refuse to participate in or assist with sterilizations.

252. HHS's failure to include an exclusion for abortion and abortion-related services is not in accordance with law within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A) because it is inconsistent with: (a) the plain language of Title IX, which prohibits requiring coverage, payment, or the use of facilities for abortion; (b) the Church Amendments, 42 U.S.C. §300a-7(b), which protect the right of healthcare entities who receive federal funding to refuse to participate in or assist with abortions; (c) Section 245 of the Public Health Service Act, 42 U.S.C. § 238(n), which prohibits the federal government from discriminating against any healthcare entity on the basis that the entity refuses to perform abortions, provide referrals for abortions, or to make arrangements for such abortions; (d) the Weldon Amendment, which has been readopted or incorporated by reference in every HHS appropriations act since 2005, and provides that no funds may be made available under HHS appropriations act to a government entity that discriminates against an institution or individual physician or healthcare professional on the basis that the entity or individual "does not provide, pay

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 56 of 82

for, provide coverage of, or refer for abortions"; and (e) Section 1303(b)(4) of the ACA, 42 U.S.C. § 18023(b)(4), which states that "[n]o qualified health plan offered through an Exchange may discriminate against any individual healthcare provider or healthcare facility because of its unwillingness to provide, pay for, provide coverage of, or refer for abortions."

253. The ACTS Mandate is not in accordance with Title VII, which requires CBA members to reasonably accommodate their employees' religious practices, because the ACTS Mandate will make it illegal for CBA members who receive HHS funds to accommodate their employees' religious objections to providing gender transition procedures.

254. The 1557 Rule also forces physicians to provide medical services related to gender transition. This is not in accordance with substantive due process rights protecting a medical professional's right to not perform a procedure he or she believes to be experimental, ethically questionable, and potentially harmful.

255. The 1557 Rule is not in accordance with law because it violates the First Amendment, Fifth Amendment, and the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, as hereafter described.

256. Plaintiffs have no adequate or available administrative remedy, or, in the alternative, any effort to obtain an administrative remedy would be futile.

257. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.

258. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the Regulation, Plaintiffs have been and will continue to be harmed.

#### <u>COUNT II</u>

# Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act Agency Action In Excess of Statutory Authority and Limitations

259. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 57 of 82

260. The APA prohibits agency actions that are "in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations." 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C). The 1557 Rule and the EEOC Statement are in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, and limitations for a number of reasons.

261. For the reasons described above, there is no statutory authority or jurisdiction for HHS to require medical professionals and facilities to perform procedures (or refer for the same) that may not be necessary or appropriate, and may in fact be harmful to the patients.

262. For the reasons described above, there is no statutory authority or jurisdiction for HHS to dictate appropriate medical views on the necessity and experimental nature of gender transition procedures, or to dictate what constitutes best standards of care in an area of science and medicine that is being hotly debated in the medical community.

263. For the reasons described above, HHS's decision to interpret Section 1557's reference to "sex" discrimination to include "gender identity" is in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, and limitations within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C).

264. For the reasons described above, EEOC's decision to interpret Title VII's reference to "sex" discrimination to include "gender identity" is in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, and limitations within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C).

265. For the reasons described above, HHS's failure to include a religious exemption in the Regulation that parallels the religious exemption in Title IX is in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, and limitations within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C).

266. For the reasons discussed above, HHS's failure to include an exclusion for sterilization and sterilization-related services is in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, and limitations within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C) because it is inconsistent with the Church Amendments, 42 U.S.C. § 300a-7(b).

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 58 of 82

267. For the reasons discussed above, HHS's failure to include an exclusion for abortion and abortion-related services is in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, and limitations within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C) because it is inconsistent with: (a) the plain language of Title IX, which prohibits requiring coverage, payment, or the use of facilities for abortion; (b) the Church Amendments, 42 U.S.C. § 300a-7(b); (c) Section 245 of the Public Health Service Act, 42 U.S.C. § 238(n); (d) the Weldon Amendment, which has been readopted or incorporated by reference in every HHS appropriations act since 2005; and (e) Section 1303(b)(4) of the ACA, 42 U.S.C. § 18023.

268. For the reasons described above, HHS's decision to require CBA members to act in violation of Title VII by not accommodating their employees' religious and conscientious objections to participating in (or referring for) gender transition treatment or procedures is in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, and limitations within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C).

269. For the reasons discussed above, the Regulation is in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, and limitations within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C) as it violates the First Amendment, Fifth Amendment, and the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, as hereafter described.

270. Plaintiffs have no adequate or available administrative remedy, or, in the alternative, any effort to obtain an administrative remedy would be futile.

271. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.

272. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the Regulation, Plaintiffs have been and will continue to be harmed.

#### COUNT III

# Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act Agency Action that is Arbitrary, Capricious and an Abuse of Discretion

273. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 59 of 82

274. The APA prohibits agency actions that are "arbitrary, capricious, [or] an abuse of discretion." 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). The 1557 Rule is arbitrary and capricious agency action for a number of reasons.

275. For the reasons described above, it is arbitrary and capricious for HHS to require medical professionals to perform (or refer for) procedures that the physician believes may not be necessary or appropriate, and that may even be harmful to the patient.

276. For the reasons discussed above, it is arbitrary and capricious for HHS to dictate appropriate medical views on the necessity and experimental nature of gender transition procedures, and to dictate what constitutes best standards of care.

277. For the reasons discussed above, HHS's inclusion of "gender identity" in its interpretation of "sex" is an arbitrary and capricious interpretation of Section 1557 of the Affordable Care Act (42 U.S.C. § 18116) and Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 *et seq.* 

278. For the reasons discussed above, EEOC's inclusion of "gender identity" in its interpretation of "sex" is an arbitrary and capricious interpretation of Title VII.

279. For the reasons discussed above, HHS's failure to include a religious exemption in the 1557 Rule that parallels the religious exemption in Title IX is arbitrary and capricious within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).

280. For the reasons discussed above, HHS's failure to include an exclusion for sterilization and sterilization-related services is arbitrary and capricious within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A) because it is inconsistent with the Church Amendments, 42 U.S.C. § 300a-7(b).

281. For the reasons discussed above, HHS's failure to include an exclusion for abortion and abortion-related services is arbitrary and capricious within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 60 of 82

282. For the reasons described above, HHS's decision to require Plaintiffs to act in violation of Title VII by not accommodating their employees' religious objections to participating in gender transition procedures is arbitrary and capricious within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).

283. For the reasons discussed above, the 1557 Rule is arbitrary and capricious within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A) as it violates the First Amendment, Fifth Amendment, and Religious Freedom Restoration Act as hereafter described.

284. Plaintiffs have no adequate or available administrative remedy, or, in the alternative, any effort to obtain an administrative remedy would be futile.

285. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.

286. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the 1557 Rule, Plaintiffs have been and will continue to be harmed.

# COUNT IV

# Violation of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution Freedom of Speech Compelled Speech and Compelled Silence

287. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

288. CBA members plan to continue using their best medical and ethical judgment in treating and advising patients. Performing (or referring for) gender transition procedures is contrary to their best medical and/or ethical judgment.

289. The 1557 Rule states, in the context of physicians offering "health services" that a

"categorization of all transition-related treatment . . . as experimental, is outdated and not based on

current standards of care." 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,435; see also id. at 31,429.

290. The 1557 Rule would prohibit CBA members from expressing their professional opinions that gender transition procedures are not the best standard of care or are experimental.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 61 of 82

291. The 1557 Rule would also require CBA members to amend their written policies to expressly endorse gender transition procedures, even if such revisions do not reflect the medical judgment, values, or beliefs of CBA members. *Id.* at 31455. The 1557 Rule would also require CBA members to use gender-transition affirming language in all situations, regardless of circumstance. *Id.* at 31406.

292. Performing (or referring for) gender transition procedures is also contrary to the religious and conscientious beliefs of CBA members, and their beliefs prohibit them from conducting, participating in, or referring for such procedures.

293. The 1557 Rule would compel CBA members to conduct, participate in, refer for, or otherwise facilitate gender transition procedures.

294. The 1557 Rule would prohibit CBA members from expressing their religious views that gender transition procedures are not the best standard of care or are experimental.

295. The 1557 Rule would compel CBA members to speak in ways that they would not otherwise speak.

296. The 1557 Rule thus violates CBA members' right to be free from compelled speech as secured to them by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution.

297. The 1557 Rule's compelled speech requirement is not justified by a compelling governmental interest.

298. Even if HHS has a compelling government interest, the 1557 Rule is not narrowly tailored to achieve that interest.

299. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the 1557 Rule, the CBA and its members have been and will continue to be harmed.

#### COUNT V

# Violation of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution Freedom of Speech and Free Exercise Clause Viewpoint Discrimination

300. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

301. CBA members' sincere religious and conscientious beliefs prohibit them from facilitating or participating in gender transition procedures.

302. CBA members' medical judgment is that it is harmful and unethical to encourage a patient to undergo gender transition procedures.

303. The 1557 Rule states, in the context of physicians offering "health services" that a "categorization of all transition-related treatment, for example as experimental, is outdated and not based on current standards of care." 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,435; *see also id.* at 31,429.

304. The 1557 Rule would prohibit CBA members from expressing their religious or conscientious viewpoint that gender transition procedures are not the best standard of care.

305. The 1557 Rule withholds funding based on an intent to restrict CBA members' speech.

306. The 1557 Rule's viewpoint discrimination is not justified by a compelling governmental interest.

307. Even if HHS has a compelling government interest, the 1557 Rule is not narrowly tailored to achieve that interest.

308. Defendants' actions thus violate CBA members' rights as secured to them by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution.

309. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the 1557 Rule, the CBA and its members have been and will continue to be harmed.

#### COUNT VI

# Violation of the First and Fifth Amendments of the United States Constitution Freedom of Speech and Due Process Overbreadth

310. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

311. The 1557 Rule regulates protected speech. The 1557 Rule states, in the context of physicians offering "health services" that a "categorization of all transition-related treatment . . . as experimental, is outdated and not based on current standards of care." 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,435; *see also id.* at 31,429.

312. This exposes CBA members to penalties for expressing their medical and moral views of gender transition procedures. It also prohibits CBA members from using their medical judgment to determine the appropriate standard of care for interactions with their patients.

313. CBA members believe that the 1557 Rule restricts their speech regarding the best standard of care for patients.

314. The 1557 Rule states: "The determination of whether a certain practice is discriminatory typically requires a nuanced analysis that is fact-dependent." *Id.* at 31,377.

315. The 1557 Rule chills CBA members' speech.

316. The 1557 Rule's overbreadth is not justified by a compelling governmental interest.

317. Even if HHS has a compelling government interest, the 1557 Rule is not narrowly tailored to achieve that interest.

318. Defendants have therefore violated CBA members' rights secured to them by the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment by prohibiting speech that would otherwise be protected.

319. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the 1557 Rule, the CBA and its members have been and will continue to be harmed.

100895462\_1

#### COUNT VII

# Violation of the First and Fifth Amendments of the United States Constitution Freedom of Speech and Due Process Void for Vagueness

320. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

321. The 1557 Rule requires that a covered entity apply "neutral, nondiscriminatory criteria that it uses for other conditions when the coverage determination is related to gender transition" and "decline[s] to limit application of the rule by specifying that coverage for the health services addressed in § 92.207(b)(3)-(5) must be provided only when the services are medically necessary or medically appropriate." 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,435.

322. Without allowing CBA members to use their judgment about what is medically necessary or appropriate, the 1557 Rule is ambiguous in the types of services CBA members are required to provide and perform.

323. Requiring a CBA member to apply "neutral, nondiscriminatory criteria that it uses for other conditions" is a subjective standard without a limiting construction. *Id.* 

324. The 1557 Rule states, in the context of physicians offering "health services" that a "categorization of all transition-related treatment, for example as experimental, is outdated and not based on current standards of care." *Id.*; *see also id.* at 31,429.

325. The 1557 Rule does not provide a limiting construction for what the current standard of care is, nor does it provide guidance as to how physicians can rely on their best medical judgment when it conflicts with the 1557 Rule.

326. The 1557 Rule is not justified by a compelling governmental interest.

327. Even if HHS has a compelling government interest, the 1557 Rule is not narrowly tailored to achieve that interest.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 65 of 82

328. Because CBA members are unable to determine what kind of procedures and services they will be required to provide and perform, Defendants have violated CBA members' rights secured to them by the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment.

329. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the 1557 Rule, the CBA and its members have been and will continue to be harmed.

#### COUNT VIII

# Violation of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution Free Exercise Clause and Freedom of Speech Unbridled Discretion

330. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

331. The 1557 Rule "applies to every health program or activity, any part of which receives Federal financial assistance provided or made available by the Department; every health program or activity administered by the Department; and every health program or activity administered by a Title I entity." 45 C.F.R. 92.2(a).

332. The 1557 Rule also states: "The determination of whether a certain practice is discriminatory typically requires a nuanced analysis that is fact-dependent." 81 Fed. Reg. at 31,377.

333. The 1557 Rule also says: "Insofar as the application of any requirement under this part would violate applicable Federal statutory protections for religious freedom and conscience, such application shall not be required." 45 C.F.R. 92.2(b)(2).

334. Because the Defendants have sole discretion over financial assistance provided or made available, and because Defendants have sole discretion over the application of the 1557 Rule and any religious freedom protection that applies, the 1557 Rule vests unbridled discretion over which organizations will have their First Amendment interests accommodated.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 66 of 82

335. In Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, Congress precluded discrimination on the basis of "sex" in federally funded education programs, "except that . . . this section shall not apply to an educational institution which is controlled by a religious organization if the application of this subsection would not be consistent with the religious tenets of such organization." 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a)-(a)(3). Defendants have exercised unbridled discretion by declining to apply the clear religious freedom protections of Title IX.

336. In Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, Congress banned sex discrimination in federally funded education programs, except that it made clear that "[n]othing in this chapter shall be construed to require or prohibit any person, or public or private entity, to provide or pay for any benefit or service, including the use of facilities, related to an abortion. Nothing in this section shall be construed to permit a penalty to be imposed on any person or individual because such person or individual is seeking or has received any benefit or service related to a legal abortion." 20 U.S.C. § 1688. Defendants have exercised unbridled discretion by declining to apply the clear abortion protections of Title IX.

337. Defendants' actions therefore violate CBA members' rights not to be subjected to a system of unbridled discretion when engaging in speech or when engaging in religious exercise, as secured to them by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution.

338. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the 1557 Rule, the CBA and its members have been and will continue to be harmed.

#### COUNT IX

# Violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution Free Speech Clause Unconstitutional Conditions

339. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 67 of 82

340. The 1557 Rule imposes an unconstitutional condition on Plaintiffs' receipt of federal funding.

341. The 1557 Rule applies to any healthcare provider who accepts federal funding from any source for any program.

342. The 1557 Rule requires CBA members to adopt policies regarding standards of care for patients that violate Plaintiffs' religious and conscientious beliefs, as well as their medical judgment, and also interfere with CBA members' practice of medicine.

343. Defendants' actions therefore impose an unconstitutional condition on CBA members' receipt of federal funding and violate Plaintiffs' rights as secured to them by the First and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution.

344. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the 1557 Rule, the CBA and its members have been and will continue to be harmed.

# <u>COUNT X</u>

# Violation of the First Amendment Freedom of Speech Expressive Association

345. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

346. CBA members believe and teach that participating in actions, procedures, and services with the goal of transitioning from one sex to another violate their religious beliefs.

347. CBA members believe and teach that participating in actions, procedures, and services that result in elective sterilizations violate their religious beliefs.

348. CBA members believe and teach that participating in actions, procedures, and services related to abortion violate their religious beliefs.

349. The ACTS Mandate would compel CBA members to participate in procedures, services, and activities that contradict their religious beliefs and message.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 68 of 82

350. The ACTS Mandate would compel CBA members to offer health coverage for procedures, services, and activities that violate their religious beliefs and message.

351. Defendants' actions thus violate CBA members' rights of expressive association as secured to them by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution.

352. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the ACTS Mandate, the CBA and its members have been and will continue to be harmed.

353. The ACTS Mandate exposes CBA members to civil suits that would hold them liable for practicing and expressing their sincerely held religious beliefs.

354. The ACTS Mandate furthers no compelling governmental interest.

355. The ACTS Mandate is not the least restrictive means of furthering Defendants' stated interests.

# COUNT XI

# Violation of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act Compelled Medical Services

356. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

357. CBA members' sincerely held religious beliefs prohibit them from deliberately offering services and performing (or referring for) operations or other procedures required by the 1557 Rule. CBA members' compliance with these beliefs is a religious exercise.

358. CBA members sincerely held religious beliefs prohibit them facilitating gender

transition procedures. CBA members' compliance with these beliefs is a religious exercise.

359. CBA members' sincerely held religious beliefs prohibit them facilitating sterilization procedures. CBA members' compliance with these beliefs is a religious exercise.

360. CBA members' sincerely held religious beliefs prohibit them facilitating abortionrelated services. CBA members' compliance with these beliefs is a religious exercise.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 69 of 82

361. The 1557 Rule creates government-imposed coercive pressure on CBA members to change or violate their religious beliefs.

362. The 1557 Rule chills CBA members' religious exercise.

363. The 1557 Rule exposes CBA members to the loss of substantial government funding as a result of their religious exercise.

364. The 1557 Rule exposes CBA members to substantial penalties under the False

Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq.

365. The 1557 Rule exposes CBA members to criminal penalties under 18 U.S.C. § 1035.

366. The 1557 Rule exposes CBA members to civil suits that would hold them liable for practicing their sincerely held religious beliefs.

367. The 1557 Rule thus imposes a substantial burden on the CBA's and its members' religious exercise.

368. The 1557 Rule furthers no compelling governmental interest.

369. The 1557 Rule is not the least restrictive means of furthering Defendants' stated interests.

370. The 1557 Rule violates the CBA's and its members' rights secured to them by the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000bb et seq.

# COUNT XII

# Violation of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act Compelled Insurance Coverage

371. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

372. For the same reasons discussed above, CBA members' sincerely held religious beliefs prohibit them from deliberately offering health insurance that would cover gender transition procedures, sterilization procedures, or abortion-related procedures.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 70 of 82

373. CBA members specifically exclude coverage of any services related to gender transition procedures and abortion in their group health plans.

374. CBA members' compliance with these beliefs by maintaining these exclusions is a religious exercise.

375. Under the ACTS Mandate, insurance exclusions related to gender transition are facially invalid.

376. Under the ACTS Mandate, insurance exclusions related to sterilization are facially invalid.

377. Under the ACTS Mandate, insurance exclusions related to abortion services are facially invalid under the 1557 Rule.

378. The ACTS Mandate exposes CBA members to the loss of substantial government funding as a result of their religious exercise.

379. The ACTS Mandate also makes it more expensive for CBA members to do business with a third party administrator for a health benefits plan. The ACTS Mandate subjects third party administrators to potential liability for administering plans that reflect Catholic teachings by categorically excluding gender transition and abortion services, and thus CBA members will be forced to indemnify any third party administrator from this liability. This constitutes an additional substantial burden on the CBA's and its members' religious exercise.

380. The ACTS Mandate exposes CBA members to substantial penalties under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq.

The ACTS Mandate exposes CBA members to criminal penalties under 18 U.S.C. §
 1035.

382. The ACTS Mandate exposes CBA members to civil suits that would hold them liable for practicing their sincerely held religious beliefs.

# Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 71 of 82

383. The ACTS Mandate thus imposes a substantial burden on the CBA's and its members' religious exercise.

384. The ACTS Mandate furthers no compelling governmental interest.

385. The ACTS Mandate is not the least restrictive means of furthering Defendants' stated interests.

386. The ACTS Mandate violates the CBA's and its members' rights secured to them by the Religious Freedom Restoration Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000bb et seq.

#### <u>COUNT XIII</u>

# Violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution Free Exercise Clause

387. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

388. CBA members object to providing, facilitating, covering, or otherwise participating in gender transition procedures.

389. The ACTS Mandate imposes substantial burdens on CBA members by forcing them to choose between their exercise of religion and the avoidance of fines, penalties, liability, and other adverse consequences.

390. The ACTS Mandate seeks to suppress the religious practice of individuals and organizations such as CBA members, while allowing exemptions for similar conduct based on secular and non-religious reasons. Thus, the ACTS Mandate is neither neutral nor generally applicable.

391. The ACTS Mandate is not justified by a compelling governmental interest.

392. Even if HHS has a compelling government interest, the ACTS Mandate is not narrowly tailored to achieve that interest.

### Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 72 of 82

393. Defendants' actions thus violate the CBA's and its members' rights secured to them by the Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution.

394. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the ACTS Mandate, the CBA and its members have been and will continue to be harmed.

# COUNT XIV

# Violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution Due Process Clause Substantive Due Process

395. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

396. The United States has a deeply rooted tradition of honoring physicians' and healthcare institutions' rights to provide medical treatment in accordance with their moral and religious beliefs.

397. CBA members possess a fundamental right of liberty of conscience.

398. CBA members possess a fundamental right not to be coerced to provide medical procedures and services in violation of their conscience.

399. The ACTS Mandate coerces CBA members to provide medical services and coverage in violation of their conscience.

400. Defendants' conduct cannot be justified by a compelling governmental interest.

401. The ACTS Mandate is not justified by a compelling governmental interest.

402. Even if Defendants have a compelling government interest, the ACTS Mandate is not narrowly tailored to achieve that interest.

403. Defendants' actions therefore violate CBA members' rights to substantive due process.

404. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the ACTS Mandate, the CBA and its members have been and will continue to be harmed.

#### COUNT XV

#### Violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution Due Process and Equal Protection

405. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

406. The Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment mandates the equal treatment of all religious faiths and institutions without discrimination or preference.

407. The ACTS Mandate discriminates on the basis of religious views or religious status by refusing to recognize religious exemptions that exist in the law.

408. The ACTS Mandate discriminates on the basis of religious views or religious status

by refusing to recognize valid medical views of religious healthcare professionals on gender transition procedures.

409. The Defendants' actions thus violate Plaintiffs' rights secured to them by the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

410. Absent injunctive and declaratory relief against the ACTS Mandate, the CBA and the CMA and their respective members have been and will continue to be harmed.

#### IX. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore Plaintiffs request that the Court:

- a. Declare that neither the Affordable Care Act nor Title VII, nor any regulations or other executive actions promulgated thereunder, shall infringe on the CBA's and CMA's and their respective members' right and power to request, design, contract for, adopt, and implement health plans and insurance policies that exclude coverage of health services for gender transition and abortion consistent with their medical judgment and sincerely held religious beliefs.
- b. Declare that the ACTS Mandate and Defendants' enforcement of the Mandate against the CBA and CMA and their respective members violate the Administrative Procedure Act, and that no taxes, penalties, or other burdens can be charged or assessed against these members for failure to pay for, provide, or directly or indirectly facilitate access to abortion or gender transition services.
- c. Declare that the ACTS Mandate and Defendants' enforcement of the Mandate against the CBA and CMA and their respective members violate the Religious
   Freedom Restoration Act, and that no taxes, penalties, or other burdens can be charged or assessed against the CBA and CMA and their respective members for failure to pay for, provide, or directly or indirectly facilitate access to abortion or gender transition services.
- d. Declare that the ACTS Mandate and Defendants' enforcement of the Mandate against the CBA and CMA and their respective members violate the laws and constitutional provisions described in their causes of action and that no taxes, penalties, or other burdens can be charged or assessed against the CBA and CMA

74

#### Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44 Filed 03/29/17 Page 75 of 82

and their respective members for failure to pay for, provide, or directly or indirectly facilitate access to abortion or gender transition services.

- e. Declare that Defendants may not apply or enforce the ACTS Mandate against the insurers and TPAs of CBA and CMA members; may not interfere with members' attempts to arrange or contract for morally compliant health coverage or related services for their employees; and that no taxes, penalties, or other burdens can be charged or assessed against such insurers or TPAs in relation to their work for CBA and CMA members;
- f. Declare that CBA and CMA members have the right to contract with service providers, including insurers and third party administrators, to secure morally compliant health plans.
- g. Issue a temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction, and permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants from:
  - i. Enforcing the ACTS Mandate against the CBA and CMA and their respective present and future members;
  - Charging or assessing fines, taxes, penalties, or other burdens against the CBA and CMA and their respective present and future members for failure to provide, perform, pay for, cover, or facilitate access to health services for gender transition and abortion;
    - Removing or threatening to remove federal funding, reimbursements,
       payments, or benefits of any kind from the CBA's and CMA's present and
       future members for failure to provide, perform, pay for, cover, or facilitate
       access to health services for gender transition and abortion;

- Removing or threatening to remove access to federal contracts, grants, and programs from the CBA's and CMA's present and future members for failure to provide, perform, pay for, cover, or facilitate access to health services for gender transition and abortion;
- iii. Applying or enforcing the ACTS Mandate against the insurers and TPAs of the CBA's and CMA's present and future members; and
- iv. Interfering with the CBA's and CMA's present and future members' relationships with their insurers or TPAs and with those members' attempts to contract for morally compliant health coverage for their employees.
- h. Award Plaintiffs the costs of this action and reasonable attorney's fees as provided by law, including 28 U.S.C. § 2412(d) and 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b); and
- i. Award such other and further relief as the Court deems equitable and just.

<Signature page follows>

DATED: March 28, 2017.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ L. Martin Nussbaum

L. Martin Nussbaum Eric Kniffin Ian Speir Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie LLP 90 S. Cascade Ave., Suite 1100 Colorado Springs, CO 80903 o:719-386-3000; f:719-386-3070 mnussbaum@lrrc.com ekniffin@lrrc.com ispeir@lrrc.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

sdg

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing allegations pertaining the teachings of the Catholic Church and to The Catholic Benefits Association are true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

I further declare under penalty of perjury that Exhibit A attached hereto is a true and accurate copy of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The Catholic Benefits Association and that Exhibit B is a true and accurate copy of the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of The Catholic Benefits Association.

Executed on March 28, 2017.

<u>/s/ Most Rev. William E. Lori</u> Most Rev. William E. Lori Archbishop of Baltimore President, The Catholic Benefits Association

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing allegations pertaining to The Catholic Benefits Association and its members are true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

Executed on March 28, 2017.

<u>/s/ Nancy Matthews</u> Nancy Matthews, Esq. Director of Membership, The Catholic Benefits Association Corporate Secretary, The Catholic Benefits Association

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing allegations pertaining to the Diocese of Fargo are true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

Executed on March 28, 2017.

<u>/s/ Scott Hoselton</u> Scott Hoselton, CPA, CDFM, CGMA Chief Financial Officer, Diocese of Fargo

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing allegations pertaining to Catholic Charities North Dakota are true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

Executed on March 28, 2017.

<u>/s/ Dianne Nechiporenko</u> Dianne Nechiporenko Executive Director, Catholic Charities North Dakota

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing allegations pertaining to the Catholic Medical Association are true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

Executed on March 28, 2017.

<u>/s/ Mario R. Dickerson</u> Mario R. Dickerson, MTS Executive Director, Catholic Medical Association

# AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF

# **THE CATHOLIC BENEFITS ASSOCIATION**

AN OKLAHOMA NONPROFIT, NONSTOCK CORPORATION

Pursuant to the Oklahoma General Corporation Act (Okla. Stat. tit. 18, §§ 1001 *et seq.*) (the "Act"), there is hereby established an Oklahoma nonprofit, nonstock corporation pursuant to this Certificate of Incorporation.

In accordance with Okla. Stat. tit. 18 § 441-1604 and the remainder of the Act:

- 1. The Ministry was converted from The Catholic Benefits Association LCA, an Oklahoma limited cooperative association, effective October 28, 2016;
- 2. The Ministry is an Oklahoma nonprofit, nonstock corporation;
- 3. Conversion of the Ministry was approved in a manner that complied with the converting entity's governing statutes; and
- 4. The filing of this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Ministry has complied with all governing statutes of the Ministry and has been duly authorized.

The Ministry is organized without capital stock.

#### ARTICLE I NAME AND OFFICE

The name of the Ministry is <u>The Catholic Benefits Association</u> (the "Ministry"). The Ministry's principal place of business is 695 Jerry St., Castle Rock, CO 80104.

#### ARTICLE II REGISTERED AGENT AND ADDRESS

The registered agent is The Corporation Company, and the address of the registered office is 1833 South Morgan Road, Oklahoma City, OK 73128.

## ARTICLE III PERIOD OF DURATION

The Corporation shall have perpetual existence.

## ARTICLE IV PURPOSES

The Ministry's purposes shall be consistent with Catholic values, doctrine, and canon law. The Ministry is organized for charitable purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (or the corresponding section of any other federal revenue law hereafter in effect, hereinafter, the "**Code**"), and more particularly including:

4.1 To support Catholic employers—including dioceses, parishes, religious institutes, ministries of the faithful, charities, schools and colleges, health care institutions, fraternal benefit societies, professional groups, for profit businesses, and others—that, as part of their religious witness and exercise, provide health or other benefits to their respective employees in a manner that is consistent with Catholic values;

4.2 To work and advocate for religious freedom of Catholic and other employers seeking to conduct their ministries and businesses according to their religious values;

4.3 To support Catholic employers in responding to changes in civil law that threaten their ability to conduct their affairs consistent with their Catholic values;

4.4 To make charitable donations to Catholic ministries from the Ministry's surplus; and

4.5 To incorporate, support, or serve as a member of one or more Catholic entities, including one or more Catholic insurance companies, in furtherance of the Ministry's purposes.

## ARTICLE V POWERS

5.1 <u>General Powers</u>. The Ministry has, without limitation, full power to sue and be sued in its own name, to hold title to real property in its own name, and to do all other things necessary or convenient to carry on its activities.

## 5.2 **<u>Restrictions on Powers</u>**.

5.2.1 No part of the net earnings shall inure to the benefit of or be distributable to any director or officer or any other individual (except that reasonable compensation may be paid for services rendered to or for the benefit of the Ministry affecting one or more of its purposes), and no director or officer, any individual or any entity not constituting a Qualifying Charitable Organization shall be entitled to share in any distribution of any of the corporate assets on dissolution or otherwise. "Qualifying Charitable Organization" is an organization exempt from federal income taxation and described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. Any such Qualifying Charitable Organization shall be a Catholic ministry.

5.2.2 No part of the assets shall be contributed to any organization whose net earnings or any part thereof inure to the benefit of any private shareholder or other individual or

any substantial part of the activities of which consists of carrying on propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation.

5.2.3 The Ministry shall make no grants or loans to any member of the board of directors or officer.

5.2.4 No substantial part of the activities shall consist of carrying on propaganda or otherwise attempting to influence legislation. The Ministry shall not participate or intervene in (including the publishing or distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of or in opposition to any candidate for public office.

5.2.5 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Certificate, the Ministry shall not carry on any activities not permitted to be carried on by an entity exempt from federal income tax as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.

## ARTICLE VI MEMBERS

6.1 <u>No Members.</u> The Ministry shall have no voting members within the meaning of § 1060 of the Act. The Ministry may have such other Catholic members, with such rights, duties and obligations, as may be set forth in the bylaws of the Ministry or as may be set by the board of directors from time to time.

## ARTICLE VII BOARD OF DIRECTORS

7.1 **In General**. The management of the Ministry's affairs shall be vested in a board of directors, except as otherwise provided in the Act, this Certificate, or the Bylaws.

7.2 **Initial Appointment**. Until his resignation as such, the Incorporator shall have the exclusive authority to appoint and remove members of the board of directors.

7.3 **<u>Regularly Constituted Board of Directors</u>**. Subject to the preceding section, the identity and number of directors, their classifications, if any, their terms of office, and the manner of their election or appointment shall be determined according to the Bylaws.

7.4 **Directors as of Incorporation**. The names and address of the Ministry as of the filing of this Certificate of Incorporation are set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.

## ARTICLE VIII LIMITATION OF LIABILITY OF DIRECTORS FOR BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES

No director shall have liability to the Ministry for breach of fiduciary duties as a director; provided, however, the forgoing limitation shall not eliminate a director's liability for:

- (a) Breach of the duty of loyalty to the Ministry;
- (b) Any acts or omissions of the director not taken in good faith;

(c) Any acts or omissions of the director involving intentional misconduct or knowing violation of the law;

(d) Any violation of Okla. Stat. tit. 18, § 1053 (relating to unlawful payment of dividends or unlawful stock purchase or redemption);

(e) Any other transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit; or

(f) Any other act for which indemnification of directors is prohibited under the provisions of the Act.

## ARTICLE IX INDEMNIFICATION

9.1 <u>No Limitation on Indemnification</u>. Nothing in this Certificate shall be construed to limit or restrict the Ministry's ability:

(a) To indemnify its Incorporator, officers, directors, employees, fiduciaries, or agents against liabilities asserted against or incurred by such officers, directors, employees, fiduciaries, or agents for actions taken by (or omissions of) such persons in such capacities; or

(b) To advance the counsel fees of its Incorporator, officers, directors, employees, fiduciaries, or agents incurred in defending liabilities asserted against or incurred by such Incorporator, officers, directors, employees, fiduciaries, or agents for actions taken by (or omissions of) such persons in such capacities.

9.2 **Procedures for Indemnification**. Except as set forth in the Act, this Certificate, or the Bylaws, indemnification of the Incorporator, officers, directors, employees, fiduciaries, or agents shall not be mandatory. Indemnification, when permissive under the Act, shall be granted as set forth in the Bylaws.

## ARTICLE X BYLAWS

Except to the extent otherwise provided in the Bylaws, the board of directors shall have the exclusive power to alter, amend, or repeal the Bylaws from time to time in force and to adopt new Bylaws upon the majority vote of the board of directors. Such Bylaws may contain any provisions for the regulation or management of the Ministry's affairs which are not inconsistent with law or this Certificate, as the same may from time to time be amended.

## ARTICLE XI AMENDMENTS

11.1 <u>Amendments to Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws</u>. The power and right to alter, amend, or repeal this Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws, and to adopt new, revised, or restated Certificate of Incorporation shall be as stated in the Bylaws.

## ARTICLE XII INCORPORATORS

The names and addresses of the incorporators ("Incorporator") are:

Name and Address	Signature
Douglas G. Wilson, Jr.	
695 Jerry Street, Suite 306,	
Castle Rock, Colorado 80104	
L. Martin Nussbaum	
90 S. Cascade Ave, Suite 1100	
Colorado Springs, CO 80906	
Nicholas N. Dyer	
90 S. Cascade Ave, Suite 1100	
Colorado Springs, CO 80906	

The Incorporators shall have such rights, powers and duties as may be set forth in this Certificate and the Bylaws, provided however, that following incorporation all . The personal liability of the Incorporator by virtue of being the Incorporator or serving as the Incorporator shall be limited to the fullest extent of the law.

## ARTICLE XIII DISSOLUTION

Upon dissolution of the Ministry, the Ministry's assets remaining after payment of or provision for its liabilities shall be paid over or transferred to one or more Catholic ministries that is a Qualifying Charitable Organization. Any assets not so disposed of shall be disposed of by the District Court of the State of Oklahoma that is located in Oklahoma City, or to one or more Catholic Qualifying Charitable Organizations as said Court shall determine.

## ARTICLE XIV DELIVERY AND PRIMARY CONTACT

The name and contact information of the individual who causes this document to be delivered for filing, and to whom the Secretary of State may deliver notice of filing of this document is refused, is:

L. Martin Nussbaum, Esq. Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie LLP 90 S. Cascade Ave., Suite 1100 Colorado Springs, Colorado 80903 mnussbaum@lrrc.com 719.386.3000

[Certification Page Follows]

6

#### Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44-1 Filed 03/29/17 Page 7 of 8

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Chief Executive Officer, acting on authority and directive of the board of directors, has authorized this Amended and Restated Certificate of incorporation effective as of the date filed with the Oklahoma Secretary of State pursuant to Okla. Stat. tit. 18 § 1007(A)(2)(a). The undersigned certifies that this instrument is the act and deed of the corporation and that the facts stated herein are true.

> Douglas G. Wilson, Jr. Chief Executive Officer

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

## EXHIBIT A

## LIST OF DIRECTORS AS OF FILING

Name	Address
Most Rev. Charles Chaput, O.F.M. Cap.	Archdiocese of Philadelphia
	222 North 17 <sup>th</sup> Street
	Philadelphia, PA 19103
Most Rev. Paul S. Coakley	Catholic Archdiocese of Oklahoma City
	7501 NW Expressway
	Oklahoma, OK 73132
Most Rev. William E. Lori	Archdiocese of Baltimore
	320 Cathedral Street
	Baltimore, MD 21201
Most Rev. J. Peter Sartain	Archdiocese of Seattle
	710 9 <sup>th</sup> Avenue
	Seattle, WA 98104
Prof. Helen Alvaré	George Washington University School of Law
	Room 433G, Hazel Hall, Arlington
	3301 Fairfax Drive
	Arlington, VA 22201
Beth M. Elfrey	Knights of Columbus
	One Columbus Plaza
	New Haven, CT 06510
H. Edward Hanway	Faith in the Future
	550 American Avenue, Suite 300
	King of Prussia, PA 19406
Dr. Carolyn Y. Woo	Catholic Relief Services
	228 W. Lexington Street
	Baltimore, MD 21201-3443

# SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF

THE CATHOLIC BENEFITS ASSOCIATION

AN OKLAHOMA NONPROFIT, NONSTOCK CORPORATION

Effective the 14th day of March, 2017

## **Table of Contents**

ARTICLE PURI	I POSES AND POWERS OF MINISTRY 1
1.1.	Purposes and Power 1
ARTICLE INCO	E II DRPORATOR; COMMENCEMENT OF BUSINESS 1
2.1.	Powers of Incorporators 1
ARTICLE MEN	E III 1BERSHIP
3.1.	Members and Qualifications
3.2.	Admission of Members
3.3.	No Power to Bind Ministry
3.4.	No Liability
3.5.	Membership Assessments for Ongoing Operations
3.6.	Temporary Assessments for Litigation Costs
3.7.	Suspension or Termination
3.8.	Transferability of Membership Interests
3.9.	Voting
3.10.	Dissociation of Members
ARTICLE FINA	E IV NCIAL MATTERS
4.1.	Non-Profit Purpose
4.2.	Allocation of Revenues Exceeding Expenditures

## Case 3:16-cv-00386-DLH-ARS Document 44-2 Filed 03/29/17 Page 2 of 14

4.3.	Charitable Contributions	4
ARTICLE DIRE	E V ECTORS AND OFFICERS	4
5.1.	Management of Ministry	4
5.2.	Number and Qualifications of Directors	4
5.3.	Election of Directors; Term; Vacancies	4
5.4.	Removal and Resignation	4
5.5.	Board Chair	4
5.6.	Board Meetings	5
5.7.	Special Meetings	5
5.8.	Quorum	5
5.9.	Notice of Board Meetings	5
5.10.	Waiver of Notice	5
5.11.	No Proxies	5
5.12.	Action Without a Meeting	5
5.13.	Compensation; Reimbursement	6
5.14.	Ethics Committee	6
5.15.	Other Committees	6
5.16.	Bonds and Insurance	6
5.17.	Audits	7
5.18.	Depository	7
ARTICLE OFFI	E VI CERS	7
6.1.	Election of Officers; Vacancies	7
6.2.	Duties of Chief Executive Officer	7
6.3.	Duties of President	7
6.4.	Duties of Vice President	7
6.5.	Duties of Secretary	8
6.6.	Duties of Treasurerii	8

## ARTICLE VII

INDE	EMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, AND EMPLOYEES
7.1.	Mandatory Indemnification
7.2.	Termination or Abatement of Claim
7.3.	Permissive Indemnification
7.4.	Success on the Merits
7.5.	Procedure
7.6.	Advancement of Expenses
7.7.	Other Rights 10
ARTICLE DISS	E VIII OLUTION
8.1.	Required Vote
8.2.	Debts and Liabilities
8.3.	Remaining Assets
ARTICLE FISC	E IX AL YEAR
ARTICLE INCC	X DRPORATION OF ACT
ARTICLE AME	XI INDMENTS
11.1.	Bylaws and Articles

## ARTICLE I PURPOSES AND POWERS OF MINISTRY

**1.1.** <u>Purposes and Power</u>. The purposes and power of The Catholic Benefits Association, an Oklahoma nonstock nonprofit corporation (the "**Ministry**"), formed under the Oklahoma General Corporation Act (Okla. Stat. tit. 18, §§ 1001 *et seq.*) (the "**Act**") are stated in the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the "**Certificate**").

## ARTICLE II INCORPORATOR; COMMENCEMENT OF BUSINESS

**2.1.** <u>Powers of Incorporators</u>. The Ministry was originally incorporated in its first iteration as a limited cooperative association by the Most Rev. William Edward Lori (the "Incorporator"), with such powers and obligations as Incorporator prior to his resignation as Incorporator. The initial incorporators of the Ministry as a nonstock nonprofit corporation under the Act were Messrs. Douglas Wilson, Jr., L. Martin Nussbaum, Esq., and Nicholas N. Dyer, Esq. whose resignations following such incorporation are hereby recognized. Any right, power, or duty vested in the Incorporators is vested in the board of directors.

## ARTICLE III MEMBERSHIP

**3.1.** <u>Members and Qualifications</u>. The Ministry shall have no voting members pursuant to § 1060 of the Act. It shall, however, have members eligible to receive the benefits of membership. The Ministry shall admit as members, Catholic employers that are approved by the Secretary or the Secretary's designee and that complete the membership application and satisfy the following criteria:

3.1.1. It shall be a Catholic employer.

3.1.1.1. Any employer shall satisfy the requirement of being Catholic if either the employer is listed in the current *Official Catholic Directory* or the secretary or his or her designee makes such a determination.

3.1.1.2. For profit employers seeking membership in the Ministry shall be deemed Catholic only if (i) Catholics (or trusts or other entities wholly controlled by such Catholic individuals) own 51% or more of employer, (ii) 51% or more of the members of the employer's governing body, if any, is comprised of Catholics, and (iii) either the employer's owners or governing body has adopted a written policy expressing the employer's commitment to the ethical standards described in § 3.1.2.

3.1.2. With regard to the benefits it provides to its employees, independent contractors, or students, or with regard to the health care services it provides to its patients, the employer shall, as part of its religious witness and exercise, be committed to providing no such benefits or services inconsistent with Catholic values, and

3.1.3. It shall, on a timely basis, pay its dues or other financial obligations to the Ministry and any of its affiliates.

## 3.2. <u>Admission of Members</u>.

3.2.1. The board or such duly appointed and authorized committee thereof or the secretary or the secretary's designee may admit members to the Ministry.

3.2.2. Each organization seeking to be a member shall apply for membership, by providing such information as may be required by the board, the secretary, or the secretary's designee. No organization qualified to be a member shall, solely by virtue of such qualification or application, be entitled to be admitted as a member.

**3.3.** <u>No Power to Bind Ministry</u>. A member, solely by reason of being a member, cannot and may not act for or bind the Ministry.

**3.4.** <u>No Liability</u>. A debt, obligation, or other liability of the Ministry is solely that of the Ministry and is not the debt, obligation, or liability of a member solely by reason of being a member.

**3.5.** <u>Membership Assessments for Ongoing Operations</u>. The board may assess dues, fees, or both from members to fund the Ministry. It shall establish the amount, manner, or other method of determining any membership assessments, which shall be payable at such times and in such amounts as it determines. All membership assessments shall be payable in cash and the receipt and acceptance of such must be reflected in the Ministry's records. The proportion of the total membership assessments shall be allocated as determined by the board. Membership assessments under this Section 3.5 are not refundable to any member.</u>

**3.6.** <u>Temporary Assessments for Litigation Costs</u>. The board may assess additional mandatory contributions from members or seek voluntary contributions from members and non-members to fund litigation costs consistent with the Ministry's purposes.

3.6.1. Such litigation includes, without limitation, litigation in the name of the Ministry, its members, its affiliates, its insurance company, others, or any person or entity providing services to the Ministry, its affiliates, or its insurance company, that is reasonably needed to avoid government mandates contrary to Catholic doctrine or values including without limitation requiring employers or their contractors to provide coverage for CASC Benefits or clinical trial services utilizing embryonic stem cells or fetal tissue harvested from aborted fetuses or to provide coverage for or to deliver ACTS Services to the member's employees, students, patients, or independent contractors. "CASC Benefits" means medication, medical devices or medical procedures that are used for the purposes of contraception, abortion, sterilization, and related counseling. "ACTS Services" means abortion or comprehensive transgender services.

3.6.2. The board shall establish the amount, manner, or other method of determining any membership temporary assessments for litigation, which shall be payable at such times and in such amounts as determined by the board. Such assessments shall be made on a temporary basis, until the cost of funding the litigation has, in the opinion of the board, been fully funded. Thereafter, the board may re-commence assessments for the cost of CASC Benefits litigation, ACTS Services litigation, or other litigation as the circumstances warrant.

All such assessments shall be payable in cash and the receipt and acceptance of such must be reflected in the Ministry's records. The proportion of the total membership assessments payable by each member under this Section 3.6 shall be allocated as determined by the board, taking into account such factors as the board deems appropriate.

3.6.3. After paying outstanding litigation costs and establishing such reserves as the board deems prudent for funding other litigation, any remaining funds from litigation assessments and third party contributions to fund litigation costs may be, but shall not be required to be, refunded to such members and contributors in proportion to their relative historic contributions of such funds.

**3.7.** <u>Suspension or Termination</u>. If the board finds that a member has ceased to be an eligible member, the board shall suspend such member's rights as a member or terminate the member's membership. On termination of membership, all rights and interests of such member in the Ministry shall cease. No action taken under these bylaws shall impair the obligations of a member already accrued under any contract with the Ministry.

**3.8.** <u>**Transferability of Membership Interests**</u>. Membership in the Ministry shall not be transferable without the prior written consent of the board in its sole discretion. Any transfer in violation of this section shall be void *ab initio*.

**3.9.** <u>Voting</u>. Members shall have no voting rights under the Act.

## 3.10. Dissociation of Members.

3.10.1. A member may withdraw from membership in the Ministry by providing thirty days' notice of intent to withdraw to the president, provided that no member may elect to dissociate from the Ministry when such member has insurance coverage in effect provided by the Ministry's insurance company.

3.10.2. The board may cause any member to dissociate from the Ministry upon a determination by the board that (i) such member does not meet the qualifications for membership or (ii) such member has acted in a manner contrary to the purposes of the Ministry. Such determination shall be made by the board in its sole, absolute, and final determination and discretion and for which no hearing or other administrative procedure shall be required.

## ARTICLE IV FINANCIAL MATTERS

**4.1.** <u>Non-Profit Purpose</u>. The Ministry shall at all times operate to further the purposes set forth in the Certificate. No profits of the Ministry shall be distributable to or inure to the benefit of the members, nor shall the Ministry operate for the private benefit of any member.

**4.2.** <u>Allocation of Revenues Exceeding Expenditures</u>. The board may deduct and set aside a part of revenues exceeding costs and expenditures of the Corporation to create or accumulate, in furtherance of its charitable purposes:

4.2.1. An unallocated capital reserve; and

4.2.2. Reasonable reserves allocated for specific purposes, including expansion and replacement of capital assets; education, training, cooperative development; creation and distribution of information relating to moral issues of interest to Catholic employers, and funding for litigation.

**4.3.** <u>Charitable Contributions</u>. After establishing reasonable reserves for the operation of the Ministry, the board may authorize, and the Ministry may make, contributions to Catholic ministries exempt from federal income taxation and described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code ("Qualifying Charitable Organization").

## ARTICLE V DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

**5.1.** <u>Management of Ministry</u>. The board shall have general supervision and control of the Ministry's affairs and shall make all rules for the Ministry's management not inconsistent with the articles or these bylaws. It shall have an accounting system adequate to the requirements of its operations, and it shall keep proper records of all business transactions.

**5.2.** <u>Number and Qualifications of Directors</u>. The Ministry shall have a board of no less than three and no more than fifteen members. At least three fourths of the directors shall be Catholic.

**5.3.** <u>Election of Directors; Term; Vacancies</u>. All members of the board of directors shall be elected by the board of directors at the annual meeting of the Ministry. Such elections shall not take effect unless and until the Ethics Committee ratifies them. The notice of annual meeting shall include the list of nominees. The board shall stagger the term of all directors so that approximately one third of the directors have terms of one year, one third have terms of two years, and one third have terms of three years. Newly elected directors shall thereafter serve for a term of three years, provided that each such director shall continue to hold office until the director's successor is elected or until the earlier of the director's death, resignation, or removal. Each director may serve as many as three consecutive terms after which the individual may not serve as director for at least one year. Whenever a vacancy occurs in the board, other than from the expiration of a term of office, the board shall appoint a qualified person to fill the vacancy until the next annual meeting.

## 5.4. <u>Removal and Resignation</u>.

5.4.1. Directors may be removed, with or without cause, unilaterally by action of the Ethics Committee; or

5.4.2. Directors may be removed, with or without cause, by action of the board of directors provided that the Ethics Committee consents to the same.

5.4.3. A director may resign at any time by providing written notice to the board of directors. Such resignation shall take effect on the date specified therein and no acceptance of the written notice shall be necessary to render the same effective.

**5.5. Board Chair**. The chair shall be elected by action of the board. The chair shall preside over all meetings of the board. The chair shall serve as such until his or her successor is

elected and qualified by action of the board or until the earlier of such director's death, resignation, or removal.

**5.6.** <u>Board Meetings</u>. In addition to the meetings mentioned above, regular meetings of the board shall be held not less than semi-annually (one of which shall be the annual meeting) or at such other times and places as the board determines. Board meetings may be held telephonically or via other means, including conference calls, video- or web-conferencing, so long as each director may hear and be heard by each other director.

**5.7.** <u>Special Meetings</u>. A special meeting of the board shall be held whenever called by a majority of the directors. Any and all business may be transacted at a special meeting. Each call for a special meeting shall be in writing, signed by the person or persons making the same, addressed and delivered to the secretary, and shall state the time and place of such meeting. Upon the signing of a waiver of notice of a meeting, a meeting of the board may be held at any time.

**5.8.** <u>**Quorum**</u>. A majority of the board shall constitute a quorum.

**5.9.** <u>Notice of Board Meetings</u>. Oral or written notice of each meeting of the board shall be given to each director by or under the supervision of the secretary not less than forty-eight hours before the time of the meeting, but such notice may be waived by individual directors.

**5.10.** <u>Waiver of Notice</u>. Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of the Act, the Certificate or these Bylaws, a director may waive any notice required to be given to such director by the Colorado Revised Nonprofit Corporation Act or these bylaws (i) whether before or after the date or time stated in the notice as the date or time when any action will occur, by delivering a written waiver to the corporation which is signed by the director entitled to the notice for inclusion in the minutes, but such delivery and filing shall not be conditions of the effectiveness of the waiver; or (2) by a director's attendance at the meeting whereby such director waives objection to lack of notice or defective notice, unless the director at the beginning of the meeting objects to the holding thereof or transacting business at the meeting because of lack of notice or defective notice and the director also does not vote for or assent to action taken at the meeting. Further, even if a director attends or participates in a meeting, the director does not waive any required notice if special notice was required of a particular purpose and the director objects to transacting business with respect to the purpose for which such special notice was required and does not thereafter vote for or assent to action taken at the meeting with respect to such purpose.

**5.11.** <u>No Proxies</u>. No director may vote or act by proxy or power of attorney.

**5.12.** <u>Action Without a Meeting</u>. Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the directors may be taken without a meeting and without prior notice if a consent in writing, setting forth the action taken, is signed by every director. Such consent (which may be counterparts) has the same effect as a unanimous vote. Unless it specifies a different effective date, it is effective when signed by all. All consents signed pursuant to this section shall be delivered to the secretary for inclusion in the minutes and the Ministry's records.

**5.13.** <u>Compensation; Reimbursement</u>. The compensation, if any, of the directors shall be determined by the members at any annual or special meeting. Proposals for such salary may be made by the board. Nothing contained herein shall serve to bar any director receiving a salary as an officer or employee of the Ministry. Directors may be paid for his or her expenses, if any, of attendance at each meeting of the members, the board, or any committee of which he or she is a member.

## 5.14. <u>Ethics Committee</u>.

5.14.1. The Ministry shall at all times have an Ethics Committee comprised of the Catholic bishops serving on the board plus any additional number of Catholic bishops as appointed by the committee itself when necessary to bring the total number of bishops on the committee to at least three. Members of the Ethics Committee who are not board members shall serve for a term of one year. Members of the Ethics Committee who are board members shall serve for terms coincident with their board terms.

5.14.2. The Ethics Committee shall have exclusive authority to review all benefits, products, and services provided by the Ministry, its affiliates or subsidiaries, or their respective contractors to ensure such conform with Catholic values and doctrine. If they do not, the committee shall determine the necessary corrections to bring such benefits, products, and services into conformity with Catholic values and doctrine. The decision of the committee shall be final and binding on the Ministry, its board, and its officers, and also upon the board and officers of the Ministry's affiliates or subsidiaries.

5.14.3. The governing documents of any affiliate or subsidiary formed by the Ministry shall expressly acknowledge and accede to the authority of the Ethics Committee as set forth in this section 5.14.

## 5.15. Other Committees.

5.15.1. The board, by resolution, may designate one or more other committees to exercise authority as designated by the board.

5.15.2. The delegation of authority to any committee shall not operate to relieve the board or any director from any responsibility imposed by law. Subject to the foregoing, the board may provide such powers, limitations, and procedures for such committees as it wishes. Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings, which shall be reported to the board and submitted to the secretary for inclusion in the Ministry's records.

**5.16.** <u>Bonds and Insurance</u>. The board may require its officers, agents, and employees charged by the Ministry with responsibility for the custody of any of its funds, securities, or commercial paper to give adequate bonds. Such bonds, unless cash security is given, shall be furnished by a responsible bonding company and approved by the board, the cost to be paid by the Ministry. The board shall provide for the adequate insurance of the property of the Ministry, or property in the possession or control of the Ministry, and not otherwise adequately insured, and in addition, adequate insurance covering liability for accidents to all employees and the public.

**5.17.** <u>Audits</u>. At least once in each year, the board shall secure the services of a competent and disinterested public auditor or accountant, who shall audit the Ministry's books and render a report in writing to the board at their annual meeting. This report shall include at least:

5.17.1. A balance sheet showing the Ministry's assets and liabilities; and

5.17.2. An operating statement for the fiscal period under review.

**5.18.** <u>**Depository**</u>. The board shall have power to select one or more banks to act as depositories of the Ministry's funds, and to determine the manner of receiving, depositing, and disbursing such funds, the form of checks, and the person or persons with authority to sign them.

## ARTICLE VI OFFICERS

**6.1.** <u>Election of Officers; Vacancies</u>. The board shall elect a chief executive officer, president, vice-president, secretary and treasurer, and any other position as may be determined by the board. Each such person shall hold office until the election and qualification of a successor unless removed by death, resignation, or for cause. There shall be no limits on the number of terms any officer may serve as such. Any of the officers may be members of the board, but membership on the board shall not be a required qualification for officers. The board shall fill vacancies in such offices.

6.2. <u>Duties of Chief Executive Officer</u>. The chief executive officer shall:

6.2.1. Have prime responsibility for leading the Ministry and for implementing and carrying out the policies, directives, and goals identified by the board and for performing other duties set forth in his or her job description or employment agreement;

6.2.2. Hire and direct employees consistent with the Ministry's budget approved by the board; and

6.2.3. Sign such other papers of the Ministry as the president may be authorized or directed by the board to sign; provided, however, that the board may authorize any person to sign any or all checks, contracts, and other instruments on behalf of the Ministry.

6.3. <u>Duties of President</u>. The president shall:

6.3.1. Perform all duties usually performed by an executive and presiding officer or as may be prescribed by the board; and

6.4. <u>Duties of Vice President</u>. The vice president shall:

6.4.1. In the absence of the president or in the event of his or her death, inability or refusal to act, perform all duties of the president, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the president; and

6.4.2. Perform such other duties as the president or the board shall assign.

6.5. <u>Duties of Secretary</u>. The secretary, personally or through a designee, shall:

6.5.1. Keep a complete record of all meetings of the Ministry and of the board and have general charge of the Ministry's books and records;

6.5.2. Serve all notices required by law, the articles, and these bylaws and make a full report of all matters pertaining to the office to the board at the annual meeting;

6.5.3. Keep complete membership records;

6.5.4. Make all reports required by law and perform such other duties as may be required by the Ministry or the board; and

6.5.5. On the election of a successor, the secretary shall turn over all books and other property belonging to the Ministry in the secretary's possession.

**6.6. Duties of Treasurer**. The treasurer shall ensure the performance of an annual audit and the preparation of annual financial statements, along with such other duties, with respect to the finances of the Ministry as the board may prescribe.

## ARTICLE VII INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, AND EMPLOYEES

## 7.1. <u>Mandatory Indemnification</u>.

7.1.1. The Ministry shall indemnify any director, officer, or employee who was or is a party, or is threatened to be made a party, to any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative (other than an action of the Ministry) by reason of the fact that he or she is or was, a director, officer, or employee of the Ministry, or is or was serving at the request of the Ministry as a director, officer, employee, agent, administrator, advisor, fiduciary, or member of a corporation, partnership, joint venture, holding company, subsidiary, trust, unincorporated association, retirement or other employee benefit plan, or other enterprise, as well as any committee, subcommittee, or other body of the Ministry existing under authority of statute or otherwise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines, penalties, and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with such action, suit, or proceeding if he/she acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the interests of the Ministry, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful.

7.1.2. The Ministry shall indemnify any director, officer, or employee who was or is a party, or is threatened to be made a party, to any threatened, pending, or completed action or suit by, or in the right of, the Ministry to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he/she is or was a director, officer, or employee of the Ministry, or is or was serving at the request or direction of the Ministry as a director, officer, employee, agent, administrator, advisor, fiduciary, or member of a corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, retirement or other employee benefit plan or other enterprise, as well as any committee, subcommittee, or other body of the Ministry existing under authority of statute or otherwise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with the defense or

settlement of such action or suit, as well as amounts paid in settlement, if he/she acted in good faith and in a manner he/she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Ministry; provided, however, that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue, or matter as to which such director, officer, or employee shall have been adjudged to be liable to the Ministry unless, and only to the extent that a court of competent jurisdiction shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in the view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the court shall deem proper.

**7.2.** <u>Termination or Abatement of Claim</u>. The termination or abatement of a claim, threatened claim, suit, or other proceeding by way of judgment, order, settlement, or conviction, upon a plea of guilty or nolo contendere or its equivalent is not, of or by itself, determinative that the director, officer, or employee met or did not meet the standard of conduct described in this article.

**7.3.** <u>Permissive Indemnification</u>. The Ministry may indemnify any agent of the Ministry to the same extent as and under the same provisions applicable to directors and officers of the Ministry, but only by specific action of and to the extent designated by the board.

**7.4.** <u>Success on the Merits</u>. Notwithstanding any other provision of this article, a director, officer, or employee of the Ministry who has been successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of any suit or proceeding referred to in Section 7.1 *et seq.* above, to which he or she was a party shall be indemnified against expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) actually and reasonable incurred by him or her in connection with such suit or proceeding.

**7.5.** <u>Procedure</u>. Any indemnification under this Article VII (unless ordered by the court) shall be made by the Ministry only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination by the board that indemnification of the director, officer, or employee is proper in the circumstances because he/she has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in the applicable section of this Article. Such determination shall be made (1) by the board by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who were not parties to such action, suit, or proceeding; or (2) if such quorum is not obtainable, or even if obtainable, by the direction of a quorum of disinterested directors, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion.

**7.6.** <u>Advancement of Expenses</u>. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 7.5, reasonable expenses incurred in defending any civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding, shall be paid by the Ministry in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit, or proceeding, if the director, officer, or employee shall undertake to repay such amount in the event that it is ultimately determined, as provided herein, that such person is not entitled to indemnification. Advances of expenses shall be made promptly and, in any event, within ninety days, upon written request of the director, officer, or employee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no advance shall be made by the Ministry, if a determination is reasonably made at any time by the Ministry board by a majority vote of a quorum of disinterested directors, or (if such a quorum is not obtainable or, even if obtainable, a quorum of disinterested directors so directs) by independent legal counsel in a written opinion, that based upon the facts known to the board or counsel at the time such determination is made, such person acted in bad faith and in a manner opposed to the best interests of the association, or such person deliberately breached his or her duty to the

Ministry or its stockholders, or, with respect to any criminal proceeding, that such person believed or had reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful.

**7.7.** <u>Other Rights</u>. The indemnification provided by this article shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification may be entitled under any insurance or other agreement, vote of directors, or otherwise, both as to actions in their official capacity and as to actions in another capacity while holding an office, and shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, or employee and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, and administrators of such person. The Ministry may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the Ministry, or who is or was serving in any of the capacities referred to in <u>Section 7.1</u> *et seq.* hereof against any liability asserted against him or incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of his or her status as such.

#### ARTICLE VIII DISSOLUTION

**8.1.** <u>**Required Vote**</u>. Voluntary dissolution of the Ministry may only be made upon the affirmative vote of not less than two-thirds of all directors of the board.

**8.2.** <u>**Debts and Liabilities**</u>. On the dissolution of the Ministry, all its debts and liabilities shall be paid first according to their respective priorities.

**8.3.** <u>Remaining Assets</u>. Any remainder of property of the Ministry shall be paid over or transferred to one or more Catholic ministries that is a Qualifying Charitable Organization. Any assets not so disposed of shall be disposed of by the state District Court in Oklahoma City, or to one or more Catholic Qualifying Charitable Organizations as said Court shall determine.

## ARTICLE IX FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year shall be the calendar year or such other consecutive twelve month period established by the board.

## ARTICLE X INCORPORATION OF ACT

Except as may be modified in the articles or these bylaws, the Act shall control and govern the Ministry.

## ARTICLE XI AMENDMENTS

**11.1.** <u>Bylaws and Articles</u>. If notice of the character of the amendment proposed is given in the notice of meeting, a majority of all of the directors may amend these bylaws or the articles. The articles or these bylaws may also be amended by unanimous written consent of the directors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, there shall be no amendment to Articles I, IV, V, or XIII of the Certificate of Incorporation or sections 3.1, or 11.1 of these bylaws without the

approval of the Ethics Committee. The members may not amend either these bylaws or the articles.

[End of Document]



THE CATHOLIC BENEFITS ASSOCIATION

NONPROFIT EMPLOYER APPLICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP

Name of Organization: Address	
Contact person for this form:	
Name	
Position	
Phone:	(work)
	(cell)
Email <sup>.</sup>	

The organization hereby applies, for itself and for its related ecclesiastical organizations, and its separately incorporated related ministries and activities ("related employers"), for membership in The Catholic Benefits Association.

The organization hereby represents, for itself and its related employers, that it and its related employers are Catholic employers committed to providing health care benefits consistent with Catholic teaching, and support efforts to preserve the right of Catholic organizations to provide such benefits.

As a condition for membership in the Association, the organization agrees to pay dues and assessments to the Association, as determined by the Association's Board of Directors, and which, as of the date of this application, are dues of \$0.50 per covered employee<sup>1</sup> per month not to exceed \$2,000/mo. plus a temporary litigation fee of \$1.00 per covered employee per month also not to exceed \$2,000/mo.

The organization hereby represents (i) that it has the authority to apply for membership in the Association for itself and its related employers, and (ii) that its related employers which it intends to be included as members of the Association are identified on Schedule A, except that parishes need not be separately listed.

The total number of covered employees for the organization and the related employers is

(Name of Organization)

By: \_\_\_\_\_

Position: \_\_\_\_\_

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A "covered employee" is an employee participating in a health plan sponsored or maintained by the applicant organization or a health plan sponsored or maintained by any related employer. 2004662396\_1



## SCHEDULE A THE CATHOLIC BENEFITS ASSOCIATION

NONPROFIT EMPLOYER APPLICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP

RELATED EMPLOYERS TO BE ADMITTED AS MEMBERS<sup>2</sup>

The applicant organization identifies the following separately incorporated related employers (other than parishes, which need not be separately identified) and acknowledges that pursuant to this Application for Membership, each of them will be admitted as a member of The Catholic Benefits Association:

Name:	 	 	
Name:	 	 	
Name:	 	 	
Name:	 		
Name:	 	 	
Name:			
Name:	 		
Name:	 		

In the case of other religious institute and non-diocesan non-profit entities, separately incorporated related employers should be identified.

If any related employer is a for profit entity, please write "for profit" behind the entity's name.  $2004662396\_1$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Regardless of whether they are separately incorporated, parishes of an applicant will be members of the Association, and need not be listed on this Schedule A. If a diocese or archdiocese seeks to exclude a parish as a member of the Association, it may provide the Association written direction to that effect.

In the case of a diocese, archdiocese or eparchy, related employers include separately incorporated ministries, such as, by way of example, Catholic Charities, other Catholic relief organizations, schools, elder care facilities, cemetery associations, housing agencies and others.



THE CATHOLIC BENEFITS ASSOCIATION

FOR PROFIT EMPLOYER APPLICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP

Name of Organization: Address	
Contact person for this form:	
Name	
Position	
Phone:	(work)
	(cell)
Fmail:	

The organization hereby applies for itself, its affiliates, and its subsidiaries as listed on Schedule A ("related employers") for membership in The Catholic Benefits Association.

The organization represents, for itself and its related employers, that: (i) Catholics (or trusts or other entities wholly controlled by Catholics) own 51% or more of employer, (ii) 51% or more of the members of the employers' governing bodies, if any, are Catholics, and (iii) either their respective owners or their respective governing bodies have adopted written policies committing the employers to provide no health care benefits to their employees or independent contractors inconsistent with Catholic values.

As a condition for membership in the Association, the organization agrees to pay dues and assessments to the Association, as determined by the Association's Board of Directors, and which, as of the date of this application, are dues of \$0.50 per covered employee<sup>1</sup> per month not to exceed \$2,000/mo. plus a temporary litigation fee of \$1.00 per covered employee per month also not to exceed \$2,000/mo.

The organization hereby represents (i) that it has the authority to apply for membership in the Association for itself and its related employers, and (ii) that its related employers which it intends to be included as members of the Association are identified on Schedule A.

The total number of covered employees for the organization and the related employers is

(Name of Organization)

Ву: \_\_\_\_\_

Position:

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A "covered employee" is an employee participating in a health plan sponsored or maintained by the applicant organization or a health plan sponsored or maintained by any related employer. 2004701319\_1



#### SCHEDULE A THE CATHOLIC BENEFITS ASSOCIATION FOR PROFIT EMPLOYERS APPLICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP

FOR PROFILEMPLOYERS APPLICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP

RELATED EMPLOYERS TO BE ADMITTED AS MEMBERS

The applicant organization identifies the following separately incorporated related employers and acknowledges that pursuant to this Application for Membership, each of them will be admitted as a member of The Catholic Benefits Association:

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			

[Contract Issuance Note: Rider must be included for all groups.]

# **Gender Dysphoria Rider**

# [Name of Entity]

This Rider to the Policy is issued to the Enrolling Group and provides Benefits for the treatment of Gender Dysphoria.

Because this Rider is part of a legal document (the group Policy), we want to give you information about the document that will help you understand it. Certain capitalized words have special meanings. We have defined these words in the *Certificate of Coverage (Certificate)* in *Section 9: Defined Terms* and in this Rider below.

When we use the words "we," "us," and "our" in this document, we are referring to [Name of Entity]. When we use the words "you" and "your" we are referring to people who are Covered Persons, as the term is defined in the *Certificate* in *Section 9: Defined Terms*.

# **Section 1: Covered Health Services**

The following provision is added to the Certificate, Section 1: Covered Health Services:

#### [#.] Gender Dysphoria

Benefits for the treatment of Gender Dysphoria are limited to the following services:

- Psychotherapy for Gender Dysphoria and associated co-morbid psychiatric diagnoses are provided as described under *Mental Health Services* in your *Certificate*.
- Cross-sex hormone therapy:
  - Cross-sex hormone therapy administered by a medical provider (for example during an
    office visit) is described under *Pharmaceutical Products Outpatient* in your *Certificate*.

[Include when group purchases the drug rider.]

- [Cross-sex hormone therapy dispensed from a pharmacy is provided as described in the *Outpatient Prescription Drug Rider.*]
- Puberty suppressing medication is not cross-sex hormone therapy.
- Laboratory testing to monitor the safety of continuous cross-sex hormone therapy.
- Surgery for the treatment of Gender Dysphoria, including the surgeries listed below.

Male to Female:

- Clitoroplasty (creation of clitoris)
- Labiaplasty (creation of labia)
- Orchiectomy (removal of testicles)
- Penectomy (removal of penis)
- Urethroplasty (reconstruction of female urethra)
- Vaginoplasty (creation of vagina)

Female to Male:

- Bilateral mastectomy or breast reduction
- Hysterectomy (removal of uterus)

2010672912\_1[1] RID17.GD.I.11.LG.XX

- Metoidioplasty (creation of penis, using clitoris)
- Penile prosthesis
- Phalloplasty (creation of penis)
- Salpingo-oophorectomy (removal of fallopian tubes and ovaries)
- Scrotoplasty (creation of scrotum)
- Testicular prosthesis
- Urethroplasty (reconstruction of male urethra)
- Vaginectomy (removal of vagina)
- Vulvectomy (removal of vulva)

# Genital Surgery and Bilateral Mastectomy or Breast Reduction Surgery Documentation Requirements:

The Covered Person must provide documentation of the following for breast surgery:

- A written psychological assessment from at least one qualified behavioral health provider experienced in treating Gender Dysphoria. The assessment must document that the Covered Person meets all of the following criteria:
  - Persistent, well-documented Gender Dysphoria.
  - Capacity to make a fully informed decision and to consent for treatment.
  - Must be 18 years or older.
  - If significant medical or mental health concerns are present, they must be reasonably well controlled.

The Covered Person must provide documentation of the following for genital surgery:

- A written psychological assessment from at least two qualified behavioral health providers experienced in treating Gender Dysphoria, who have independently assessed the Covered Person. The assessment must document that the Covered Person meets all of the following criteria.
  - Persistent, well-documented Gender Dysphoria.
  - Capacity to make a fully informed decision and to consent for treatment.
  - Must 18 years or older.
  - If significant medical or mental health concerns are present, they must be reasonably well controlled.
  - Complete at least 12 months of successful continuous full-time real-life experience in the desired gender.
  - Complete 12 months of continuous cross-sex hormone therapy appropriate for the desired gender (unless medically contraindicated).

# **Schedule of Benefits**

#### <sup>[1</sup>Remove for Network Only products.]

The provision below for Gender Dysphoria is added to the Schedule of Benefits <sup>1</sup>/<sub>1</sub> and the following bulleted item is added to the Schedule of Benefits as a Covered Health Service which requires prior authorization under Covered Health Services which Require Prior Authorization]:

• [Gender Dysphoria treatment.]

Covered Health Service	<b>Benefit</b> (The Amount We Pay, based on Eligible Expenses)	Apply to the Out-of-Pocket Maximum?	Must You Meet Annual Deductible?
[#.] Gender Dysphoria			
Remove prior authorization requirement for Network Only products			
[Prior Authorization Requirement]			
<sup>[1</sup> Include for Products with a Network and Non-Network Benefits, including Options PPO when the member is not responsible for prior authorization for network benefits.]			
<sup>[2</sup> Include for Non-Differential Product. Include for Options PPO when the member is responsible for prior authorization for network benefits.]			
[[ <sup>1</sup> For Non-Network Benefits you] [ <sup>2</sup> You] must obtain prior authorization as soon as the possibility for any of the services listed above for Gender Dysphoria treatment arises. If you fail to obtain prior authorization as required, [Benefits will be reduced to [50 - 95]% of Eligible Expenses.] [you will be responsible for paying all charges and no Benefits will be paid.]]			
[In addition, [ <sup>1</sup> for Non-Network Benefits] you must contact us 24 hours before admission for an Inpatient Stay.]			
<sup>[1</sup> Include for Network/Non-Network Products. Remove Network heading and Non-Network row for Network only Products and Non-Differential Product.]	[ <sup>1</sup> Network]		
	[Depending upon where the Covered Health Service is provided, Benefits will be the same as those stated under each Covered Health Service category in the <i>Schedule of Benefits</i> [ <sup>2</sup> and in the <i>Outpatient Prescription Drug Rider</i> ].] [ <sup>1</sup> Non-Network]		
[ <sup>2</sup> Include when group purchases the drug rider.]			
	[Depending upon where the Covered Health Service is provided, Benefits will be the same as those stated under each Covered Health Service category in the <i>Schedule of Benefits</i> [ <sup>2</sup> and in the <i>Outpatient Prescription Drug Rider</i> ].]		

# **Section 2: Exclusions and Limitations**

The exclusion for sex transformation operations and related services in the Certificate under Section 2: Exclusions and Limitations, Procedures and Treatments is deleted. In addition, the following exclusions apply:

• Cosmetic Procedures, including the following:

2010672912\_1[3] RID17.GD.I.11.LG.XX

- Abdominoplasty
- Blepharoplasty
- Breast enlargement, including augmentation mammoplasty and breast implants
- Body contouring, such as lipoplasty
- Brow lift
- Calf implants
- Cheek, chin, and nose implants
- Injection of fillers or neurotoxins
- Face lift, forehead lift, or neck tightening
- Facial bone remodeling for facial feminizations
- Hair removal
- Hair transplantation
- Lip augmentation
- Lip reduction
- Liposuction
- Mastopexy
- Pectoral implants for chest masculinization
- Rhinoplasty
- Skin resurfacing
- Thyroid cartilage reduction; reduction thyroid chondroplasty; trachea shave (removal or reduction of the Adam's Apple)
- Voice modification surgery
- Voice lessons and voice therapy

# **Section 9: Defined Terms**

The following definition of Gender Dysphoria is added to the Certificate under Section 9: Defined Terms:

**Gender Dysphoria** - a disorder characterized by the following diagnostic criteria classified in the current edition of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of the American Psychiatric Association:* 

- Diagnostic criteria for adults and adolescents:
  - A marked incongruence between one's experienced/expressed gender and assigned gender, of at least six months' duration, as manifested by at least two of the following:
    - A marked incongruence between one's experienced/expressed gender and primary and/or secondary sex characteristics (or in young adolescents, the anticipated secondary sex characteristics).
    - A strong desire to be rid of one's primary and/or secondary sex characteristics because of a marked incongruence with one's experienced/expressed gender or in young adolescents, a desire to prevent the development of the anticipated secondary sex characteristics).

- A strong desire for the primary and/or secondary sex characteristics of the other gender.
- A strong desire to be of the other gender (or some alternative gender different from one's assigned gender).
- A strong desire to be treated as the other gender (or some alternative gender different from one's assigned gender).
- A strong conviction that one has the typical feelings and reactions of the other gender (or some alternative gender different from one's assigned gender).
- The condition is associated with clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational or other important areas of functioning.
- Diagnostic criteria for children:
  - A marked incongruence between one's experienced/expressed gender and assigned gender, of at least six months' duration, as manifested by at least six of the following (one of which must be criterion as shown in the first bullet below):
    - A strong desire to be of the other gender or an insistence that one is the other gender (or some alternative gender different from one's assigned gender).
    - In boys (assigned gender), a strong preference for cross-dressing or simulating female attire; or in girls (assigned gender), a strong preference for wearing only typical masculine clothing and a strong resistance to the wearing of typical feminine clothing.
    - A strong preference for cross-gender roles in make-believe play or fantasy play.
    - A strong preference for the toys, games or activities stereotypically used or engaged in by the other gender.
    - A strong preference for playmates of the other gender.
    - In boys (assigned gender), a strong rejection of typically masculine toys, games and activities and a strong avoidance of rough-and-tumble play; or in girls (assigned gender), a strong rejection of typically feminine toys, games and activities.
    - A strong dislike of ones' sexual anatomy.
    - A strong desire for the primary and/or secondary sex characteristics that match one's experienced gender.
  - The condition is associated with clinically significant distress or impairment in social, school or other important areas of functioning.

[Effective Date of this Rider: \_\_\_\_\_]

(Name and Title)



An Independent Licensee of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association

# **Treatment of Gender Dysphoria**

Policy Number: 7.01.508 Origination: 10/2010

Last Review: 10/2016 Next Review: 10/2017

## **Policy**

If coverage for gender reassignment surgery is available per the member's benefit, Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Kansas City (Blue KC) will provide coverage for treatment of gender dysphoria including gender reassignment surgery when it is determined to be medically necessary because the criteria shown below are met.

Some grandfathered plans may exclude coverage of gender reassignment surgery (sex change surgery, transgender surgery) or any treatment of gender identity disorders. Please verify benefits.

There are three phases to coverage:

- 1 Phase one is at least 12 consecutive months of living, dressing and working fulltime as the preferred gender. During this period coverage will require regular and consistent attendance in a program of counseling and behavior therapy.
- 2 Phase two begins after phase one and is 12 additional consecutive months of living, dressing and working full-time as the preferred gender with the addition of hormone supplementation consistent with the preferred gender. During this period coverage will require continued regular and consistent attendance in a program of counseling and behavior therapy.

After documented completion of phase one and phase two, the requested surgical alteration will be covered subject to non-discriminatory medical policy.

# When Policy Topic is covered

Non-Surgical Treatment of Gender Dysphoria

If a plan covers non-surgical treatment for gender dysphoria, the following nonsurgical treatments are covered:

- Psychotherapy for gender dysphoria and associated co-morbid psychiatric diagnoses.
  - Note: If mental health services are covered based on the behavioral health services benefit.
- Continuous Hormone Replacement Therapy Hormones of the desired gender. Hormones injected by a medical provider (for example hormones injected during an office visit) are covered by the medical plan. Benefits for these injections vary depending on the plan design. Oral and self-injected hormones

from a pharmacy are not covered under the medical plan. Refer to the Outpatient Prescription Drug Rider, or SPD for self-funded plans, or specific prescription drug product coverage and exclusion terms.

- Eligibility Qualifications for Continuous Hormone Replacement Therapy The covered person must meet all of the following eligibility qualifications for hormone replacement:
- Persistent, well-documented gender dysphoria (see definition of Gender Identity Disorder below); and
- Capacity to make a fully informed decision and to consent for treatment; and
- Age of majority in a given country. Note: WPATH guidelines address age of majority in a given country. For the purposes of this guideline, the age of majority is age 18. However, this refers to chronological age not biological age. Where approval or denial of benefits is based solely on the age of the individual a case-by-case medical director review is necessary; and
- If significant medical or mental health concerns are present, they must be reasonably well-controlled.
- Laboratory testing to monitor the safety of continuous hormone therapy.

Gender reassignment surgery may be considered **medically necessary** when **ALL** of the following criteria are met:

- Age of majority in a given country. Note: WPATH guidelines address age of majority in a given country. For the purposes of this guideline, the age of majority is age 18. However, this refers to chronological age not biological age. Where approval or denial of benefits is based solely on the age of the individual a case-by-case medical director review is necessary.
- The individual is diagnosed as having a gender identity disorder (GID), including a diagnosis of transsexualism that includes ALL of the following criteria:
  - The individual has demonstrated the desire to live and be accepted as a member of the opposite sex, in addition to a desire to make his/her body as congruent as possible with the preferred sex through surgery and hormone replacement.
  - The transsexual identity has been present consistently for at least two years.
  - The disorder is not due to another mental disorder or chromosome abnormality.
- The individual is an active participant in a recognized gender identity treatment program and demonstrates **ALL** of the following conditions:
  - The individual has successfully lived and worked within the desired gender role full-time for at least 12 months (real life experience) without returning to the original gender.
  - One qualified health professional recommends initiation of hormonal therapy or breast surgery with written documentation submitted to the physician who will be responsible for the medical treatment.
  - The individual has received at least 12 months of continuous hormonal sex reassignment therapy, unless medically contraindicated.
  - A qualified mental health professional (a psychiatrist or Ph.D. clinical psychologist) recommends sex reassignment surgery with written

documentation submitted to the physician performing the genital surgery (this should be an extensive report). The individual has undergone evaluation by the physician performing the genital surgery.

The following surgeries would be considered **medically necessary** when performed as part of a medically necessary initial gender reassignment:

- initial mastectomy/breast reduction
- hysterectomy
- salpingo-oophorectomy
- colpectomy
- metoidioplasty
- vaginoplasty
- colovaginoplasty
- orchiectomy
- penectomy
- clitoroplasty
- labiaplasty
- scrotoplasty
- urethroplasty
- phalloplasty
- testicular implants
- colovaginoplasty
- cenectomy
- clitoroplasty
- vulvoplasty
- penile skin inversion
- repair of introitus
- construction of vagina with graft, coloproctostomy
- urethromeatoplasty

## When Policy Topic is not covered

When non-surgical treatments are not covered. Examples that apply to this exclusion include, but are not limited to:

- Reproduction services including, but not limited to: sperm preservation in advance of hormone treatment or gender dysphoria surgery, cryopreservation of fertilized embyros, oocyte preservation, surrogate parenting, donor eggs, donor sperm and host uterus. (See the Reproduction exclusion in the member specific benefit plan document.)
- Drugs\* for hair loss or growth.
- Drugs\* for sexual performance for patients that have undergone genital reconstruction.
- Drugs\* for cosmetic purposes.
- Hormone therapy except as described in the Covered Services section above. Gender Dysphoria (Gender Identity Disorder)
- Pubertal suppression therapy is considered unsafe in managing children and adolescents with gender identity dysphoria and is, therefore, not covered.
- Voice therapy.

\* The drugs exclusions listed above apply to drugs administered by a provider in a medical setting (including, but not limited to: office, outpatient, or inpatient facility). For drugs obtained at a pharmacy, the pharmacy benefit will apply.

The following associated gender reassignment surgeries are considered **cosmetic** in nature and not medically necessary, even in the presence of a benefit for gender reassignment surgery. These surgeries include, but are not limited to:

- breast augmentation/silicone injections of the breast
- blepharoplasty
- facial feminization surgery including facial bone reconstruction
- rhinoplasty
- lip reduction/enhancement
- face/forehead lift
- chin/nose implant or other facial implants
- trachea shave/reduction thyroid chondroplasty
- laryngoplasty
- liposuction
- electrolysis
- jaw shortening/sculpturing/facial bone reduction
- collagen injections
- removal of redundant skin
- voice modification surgery
- hair removal / hair transplantation
- abdominoplasty
- calf implants
- gluteal augmentation
- lipofilling collagen injections
- pectoral implants
- voice therapy
- construction of a clitoral hood
- mastopexy
- neck tightening
- rhytidectomy (face-lift)
- penile implants
- Nipple/areola reconstruction

## **Considerations**

Some grandfathered plans may exclude coverage of gender reassignment surgery (sex change surgery, transgender surgery) or any treatment of gender identity disorders. Please verify benefits.

## **Description of Procedure or Service**

Gender reassignment surgery (also known as genital reconstruction surgery, sex affirmation surgery, or sex-change operation) is a term for the surgical procedures by which a person's physical appearance and function of their existing sexual characteristics are altered to resemble that of the other sex. It is part of a treatment for gender identity disorder/gender dysphoria in transsexual and transgender people. It may also be performed on intersex people, often in infancy. Other terms for this surgery include sex reassignment surgery, sex reconstruction surgery, genital reconstruction surgery, gender confirmation surgery, and more clinical terms, such as feminizing genitoplasty or penectomy, orchiectomy and vaginoplasty are used medically for trans women, with masculinizing genitoplasty often similarly used for trans men.

#### Male to Female

In a series of staged procedures, the physician removes portions of the male genitalia and forms female external genitals. The penis is dissected and portions are removed with care to preserve vital nerves and vessels in order to fashion a clitoris-like structure. The urethral opening is moved to a position similar to that of a normal female. A vagina is made by dissecting and opening the perineum. This opening is lined using pedicle or split thickness grafts. Labia are created out of skin from the scrotum and adjacent tissue. A stent or obturator is usually left in place in the newly created vagina for three weeks or longer.

#### Female to Male

In a series of staged procedures, the physician forms a penis and scrotum using pedicle flap grafts and free skin grafts. Portions of the clitoris are used as well as the adjacent skin. Prostheses are often placed in the penis in order to have a sexually functional organ. Prosthetic testicles are fixed in the scrotum. The vagina is closed or removed.

Gender reassignment surgery is intended to be a permanent change to a patient's sexual identity and is not reversible. Therefore, a careful and accurate diagnosis is essential for treatment and can be made only as part of a long-term diagnostic process involving a multidisciplinary specialty approach that includes an extensive case history; gynecological, endocrinological and urological examination, and a clinical psychiatric/psychological examination. A patient's self-assessment and desire for sex reassignment cannot be viewed as reliable indicators of GID.

## **Rationale**

According to the World Professional Association for Transgender Health (WPATH) (formerly known as the Harry Benjamin International Gender Dysphoria Association [(HBIGDA]), Gender Identity Disorder (GID), more commonly known as transsexualism, is a condition recognized in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, (DSM-IV, 1994, and DSM-IV-TR, 2000) published by the American Psychiatric Association. Transsexualism is also recognized in the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, Ninth Revision, published by the World Health Organization, for which the United States is a signatory. The criteria listed for GID are descriptive of many people who experience dissonance between their sex as assigned at birth and their gender identity, which is developed in early childhood and understood to be firmly established by age 4, though for some transgender individuals, gender identity may remain somewhat fluid for many years. The DSM-IV descriptive criteria were developed to aid in diagnosis and treatment to alleviate the clinically significant distress and impairment know as gender dysphoria that is often associated with transsexualism.

Two frequently used methods of diagnosing transsexualism are the German Standards for the Treatment and Diagnostic Assessment of Transsexuals (Becker, et al., 1998) and the WPATH SOC (2001). According to these standards of care, transsexualism is identified as follows:

- a permanent and profound identification with the opposite sex
- a persistent feeling of discomfort regarding one's biological sex or feelings of inadequacy in the gender role of that sex
- the wish to make his or her body as congruent as possible with the preferred sex through surgery and hormone replacement
- clinically relevant distress and/or impaired ability to function in social, workrelated and other situations as a result of preoccupation with non-identification with the gender assigned at birth
- not a symptom of another mental disorder or a chromosomal abnormality
- persistent presence of the transsexual identity for at least two years

Mental health professionals play a strong role in working with individuals with GID, as they need to diagnose the gender disorder and any comorbid psychiatric conditions accurately, counsel the individual regarding treatment options, and provide psychotherapy and assess eligibility and readiness for hormone and surgical therapy. They usually provide documentation and formal recommendations to medical and surgical specialists. Psychiatric care may need to continue for several years after gender reassignment surgery, as major psychological adjustments may continue to be necessary. Other providers of care may include a family physician or internist, endocrinologist, urologist, plastic surgeon, general surgeon and gynecologist. The overall success of the surgery is highly dependent on psychological adjustment and continued support.

After diagnosis, the therapeutic approach usually includes three elements: hormones of the desired gender, real life experience in the desired role, and surgery to change the genitalia and other sex characteristics.

Prior to gender reassignment surgery, patients undergo hormone replacement therapy, which plays an important role in the gender transition process. Biological males can be treated with estrogens and anti-androgens to increase breast size, redistribute body fat, soften skin, decrease body hair, and decrease testicular size and erections. Biological females are treated with testosterone to deepen voice, increase muscle and bone mass, decrease breast size, increase clitoris size, and increase facial and body hair. Hormones must be administered by a physician and require ongoing medical management, including physical examination and lab studies to evaluate dosage, side effects, etc. Lifelong maintenance is usually required. Hormone therapy also limits fertility, and individuals need to be informed of sperm preservation options and cryopreservation of fertilized embryos prior to starting hormone therapy. The individual identified with GID also undergoes what is called a "real life experience," in which he/she adopts the new or evolving gender role and lives in that role as part of the transition pathway. This process tests the individual's resolve and commitment for change, as well as the adequacy of his/her support system. During this time, a person would be expected to maintain full- or parttime employment, participate in community activities, acquire a legal gender identity appropriate first name, and provide an indication that others are aware of the change in gender role. Mental health professionals continue to play an important role in this individual's continuum of care.

#### Transmen

Transmen assume male gender identities or strive to present in more male gender roles. Gender reassignment surgery from female to male (FTM) includes surgical procedures that reshape a female body into the appearance of a male body. Procedures often performed as part of gender reassignment surgery of FTM include mastectomy, hysterectomy, salpingo-oophorectomy, colpectomy (i.e., removal of the vagina) and metoidioplasty (i.e., construction of a penis).

#### Transwomen

Transwomen strive for a female identity. Gender reassignment surgery from male to female (MTF) includes procedures that shape a male body into the appearance of and, to the maximum extent possible, the function of a female body. Procedures often performed as part of gender reassignment surgery of MTF include vaginoplasty, penile inversion to create a vagina and clitoris, penectomy, colovaginoplasty (i.e., creation of vagina from sigmoid colon), breast augmentation, orchiectomy, clitoroplasty and labiaplasty.

#### **Professional Society/Organization**

In 2009 the Endocrine Society published a clinical practice guideline for endocrine treatment of transsexual persons (Hembree, et al., 2009). As part of this guideline, the endocrine society recommends that transsexual persons consider genital sex reassignment surgery only after both the physician responsible for endocrine transition therapy and the mental health professional find surgery advisable; that surgery be recommended only after completion of at least one year of consistent and compliant hormone treatment; and that the physician responsible for responsible for endocrine treatment medically clear the individual for sex reassignment surgery and collaborate with the surgeon regarding hormone use during and after surgery.

#### Summary

Sex reassignment surgical procedures for diagnosed cases of GID should be recommended only after a comprehensive evaluation by a qualified mental health professional. The surgeon should have a demonstrated competency and extensive training in sexual reconstructive surgery. Long-term follow-up is highly recommended for the enduringly successful outcome of surgery. References:

- Becker S, Bosinski HAG, Clement U, Eicher WM, Goerlich TM, Hartmann U, et al. (1998) German standards for the treatment and diagnostic assessment of transsexuals. IJT 2/4. Available at URL address: <u>http://www.symposion.com/ijt/ijtc0603.htm</u>
- 2. Day P. Trans-gender Reassignment Surgery. Tech Brief Series. New Zealand Health Technology Assessment. NZHTA Report February 2002, Volume 1, Number 1. Available at URL address: <u>http://nzhta.chmeds.ac.nz/index.htm#tech</u>
- 3. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders Fourth Edition. Text Revision (DSM-IV TR). American Psychiatric Association. American Psychiatric Association, Incorporated. July 2000.
- 4. ECRI Institute. Hotline Response [database online]. Plymouth Meeting (PA): ECRI Institute; 2007 October. Sexual reassignment for gender identity disorders. Available at URL address: <u>http://www.ecri.org</u>
- Hembree WC, Cohen-Kettenis P, Delemarre-van de Waal HA, Gooren LJ, Meyer WJ 3<sup>rd</sup>, Spack NP, Tangpricha V, Montori VM; Endocrine Society. Endocrine treatment of transsexual persons: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009 Sep;94(9):3132-54.
- 6. Landen M, Walinder J, Hambert G, Lundstrom B. Factors predictive of regret in sex reassignment. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1998 Apr;97(4):284-9.
- 7. Lawrence AA. Factors associated with satisfaction or regret following male-to-female sex reassignment surgery. Arch Sex Behav. 2003 Aug;32(4):299-315.
- 8. Maharaj NR, Dhai A, Wiersma R, Moodley J. Intersex conditions in children and adolescents: surgical, ethical, and legal considerations. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2005 Dec;18(6):399-402.
- Moore E, Wisniewski A, Dobs A. Endocrine treatment of transsexual people: a review of treatment regimens, outcomes, and adverse effects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003 Aug;88(8):3467-73.
- 10. Smith YL, van Goozen SH, Cohen-Kettenis PT. Adolescents with gender identity disorder who were accepted or rejected for sex reassignment surgery: a prospective follow-up study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2001 Apr;40(4):472-81.
- 11. Sutcliffe PA, Dixon S, Akehurst RL, Wilkinson A, Shippam A, White S, Richards R, Caddy CM. Evaluation of surgical procedures for sex reassignment: a systematic review. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2009 Mar;62(3):294-306; discussion 306-8.
- 12. World Professional Association for Transgender Health. The Harry Benjamin International Gender Dysphoria Association. Standards of Care for Gender Identity Disorders. 6<sup>th</sup> version. 2001 Feb. Available at URL address: <u>http://www.wpath.org/publications\_standards.cfm</u>
- 13. Zucker KJ. Intersexuality and gender identity disorder. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2002 Feb;15(1):3-13.
- 14. Berry MG, Curtis R, Davies D. Female-to-male transgender chest reconstruction: a large consecutive, single-surgeon experience. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. 2012. Jun;65(6):711-9.
- 15. Namba Y, Watanabe T, Kimata Y. Mastectomy in female-to-male transsexuals. Acta Med Okayama. 2009 Oct;63(5):243-7.
- 16. Monstrey S, Selvaggi G, Ceulemans P, Van Landuyt K, Bowman C, Blondeel P, Hamdi M,De Cuypere G. Chest-wall contouring surgery in female-to-male transsexuals: a new algorithm. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2008 Mar;121(3):849-59.

The following codes for treatments and procedures applicable to this document are included below for informational purposes. Inclusion or exclusion of a procedure, diagnosis or device code(s) does not constitute or imply member coverage or provider reimbursement policy.

## **Billing Coding/Physician Documentation Information**

- **55970** Intersex surgery; male to female
- **55980** Intersex surgery; female to male
- **11950** Subcutaneous injection of filling material (eg, collagen); 1 cc or less

- Subcutaneous injection of filling material (eg, collagen); 1.1 to 5.0 cc
- Subcutaneous injection of filling material (eg, collagen); 5.1 to 10.0 cc
- Subcutaneous injection of filling material (eg, collagen); over 10.0 cc
- Punch graft for hair transplant; 1 to 15 punch grafts
- Punch graft for hair transplant; more than 15 punch grafts
- Cervicoplasty
- Blepharoplasty, lower eyelid;
- Blepharoplasty, lower eyelid; with extensive herniated fat pad
- Blepharoplasty, upper eyelid;
- 15823 Blepharoplasty, upper eyelid; with excessive skin weighting down lid
- 15824 Rhytidectomy; forehead
- Rhytidectomy; glabellar frown lines
- 15828 Rhytidectomy; cheek, chin, and neck
- 15829 Rhytidectomy; superficial musculoaponeurotic system (SMAS) flap
- Excision, excessive skin and subcutaneous tissue (includes lipectomy); abdomen, infraumbilical panniculectomy
- Excision, excessive skin and subcutaneous tissue (includes lipectomy); thigh
- Excision, excessive skin and subcutaneous tissue (includes lipectomy); leg
- Excision, excessive skin and subcutaneous tissue (includes lipectomy); hip
- Excision, excessive skin and subcutaneous tissue (includes lipectomy); buttock
- Excision, excessive skin and subcutaneous tissue (includes lipectomy); arm
- Excision, excessive skin and subcutaneous tissue (includes lipectomy); forearm or hand
- Excision, excessive skin and subcutaneous tissue (includes lipectomy); submental fat pad
- Excision, excessive skin and subcutaneous tissue (includes lipectomy); other area
- Excision, excessive skin and subcutaneous tissue (includes lipectomy), abdomen (eg, abdominoplasty) (includes umbilical transposition and fascial plication) (List separately in addition to code for primary procedure)
- Suction assisted lipectomy; trunk
- Suction assisted lipectomy; upper extremity
- Suction assisted lipectomy; lower extremity
- Electrolysis epilation, each 30 minutes
- Mastectomy, partial (eg, lumpectomy, tylectomy, quadrantectomy, segmentectomy);
- Mastectomy, simple, complete
- Mastectomy, subcutaneous
- Mastopexy
- Mammaplasty, augmentation; without prosthetic implant
- Mammaplasty, augmentation; with prosthetic implant

- Immediate insertion of breast prosthesis following mastopexy, mastectomy or in reconstruction
- Delayed insertion of breast prosthesis following mastopexy, mastectomy or in reconstruction
- Nipple/areola reconstruction
- Genioplasty; augmentation (autograft, allograft, prosthetic material)
- Genioplasty; sliding osteotomy, single piece
- Genioplasty; sliding osteotomies, 2 or more osteotomies (eg, wedge excision or bone wedge reversal for asymmetrical chin)
- Genioplasty; sliding, augmentation with interpositional bone grafts (includes obtaining autografts)
- 21125 Augmentation, mandibular body or angle; prosthetic material
- Augmentation, mandibular body or angle; with bone graft, onlay or interpositional (includes obtaining autograft)
- Reduction forehead; contouring only
- Reduction forehead; contouring and application of prosthetic material or bone graft (includes obtaining autograft)
- Reduction forehead; contouring and setback of anterior frontal sinus wall
- Osteoplasty, facial bones; augmentation (autograft, allograft, or prosthetic implant)
- 21209 Osteoplasty, facial bones; reduction
- Graft, bone; nasal, maxillary or malar areas (includes obtaining graft)
- Graft; rib cartilage, autogenous, to face, chin, nose or ear (includes obtaining graft)
- Reconstruction of mandible or maxilla, subperiosteal implant; partial
- 21246 Reconstruction of mandible or maxilla, subperiosteal implant; complete
- Reconstruction of mandible or maxilla, endosteal implant (eg, blade, cylinder); partial
- Reconstruction of mandible or maxilla, endosteal implant (eg, blade, cylinder); complete
- Malar augmentation, prosthetic material
- Reduction of masseter muscle and bone (eg, for treatment of benign masseteric hypertrophy); extraoral approach
- Reduction of masseter muscle and bone (eg, for treatment of benign masseteric hypertrophy); intraoral approach
- Rhinoplasty, primary; lateral and alar cartilages and/or elevation of nasal tip
- Rhinoplasty, primary; complete, external parts including bony pyramid, lateral and alar cartilages, and/or elevation of nasal tip
- Rhinoplasty, primary; including major septal repair
- Rhinoplasty, secondary; minor revision (small amount of nasal tip work)
- Rhinoplasty, secondary; intermediate revision (bony work with osteotomies)
- Rhinoplasty, secondary; major revision (nasal tip work and osteotomies)
- Laryngoplasty; for laryngeal web, 2-stage, with keel insertion and removal

- Laryngoplasty; for laryngeal stenosis, with graft or core mold, including tracheotomy
- Laryngoplasty; with open reduction of fracture
- 31587 Laryngoplasty, cricoid split
- Laryngoplasty, not otherwise specified (eg, for burns, reconstruction after partial laryngectomy)
- Urethroplasty; first stage, for fistula, diverticulum, or stricture (eg, Johannsen type)
- Urethroplasty; second stage (formation of urethra), including urinary diversion
- Urethroplasty, 1-stage reconstruction of male anterior urethra
- Urethroplasty, transpubic or perineal, 1-stage, for reconstruction or repair of prostatic or membranous urethra
- Urethroplasty, 2-stage reconstruction or repair of prostatic or membranous urethra; first stage
- Urethroplasty, 2-stage reconstruction or repair of prostatic or membranous urethra; second stage
- Urethroplasty, reconstruction of female urethra
- Urethroplasty with tubularization of posterior urethra and/or lower bladder for incontinence (eg, Tenago, Leadbetter procedure)
- Urethromeatoplasty, with mucosal advancement
- Urethromeatoplasty, with partial excision of distal urethral segment (Richardson type procedure)
- Amputation of penis; complete
- Orchiectomy, simple (including subcapsular), with or without testicular prosthesis, scrotal or inguinal approach
- Insertion of testicular prosthesis (separate procedure)
- 54690 Laparoscopy, surgical; orchiectomy
- Scrotoplasty; simple
- Scrotoplasty; complicated
- Vulvectomy simple; complete
- 56800 Plastic repair of introitus
- 56805 Clitoroplasty for intersex state
- Perineoplasty, repair of perineum, nonobstetrical (separate procedure)
- Vaginectomy, partial removal of vaginal wall;
- Vaginectomy, partial removal of vaginal wall; with removal of paravaginal tissue (radical vaginectomy)
- Vaginectomy, complete removal of vaginal wall;
- Vaginectomy, complete removal of vaginal wall; with removal of paravaginal tissue (radical vaginectomy)
- Construction of artificial vagina; without graft
- 57292 Construction of artificial vagina; with graft
- Vaginoplasty for intersex state
- Total abdominal hysterectomy (corpus and cervix), with or without removal of tube(s), with or without removal of ovary(s);
- Supracervical abdominal hysterectomy (subtotal hysterectomy), with or without removal of tube(s), with or without removal of ovary(s)
- Vaginal hysterectomy, for uterus 250 g or less;

- Vaginal hysterectomy, for uterus 250 g or less; with removal of tube(s), and/or ovary(s)
- Vaginal hysterectomy, with total or partial vaginectomy;
- Vaginal hysterectomy, with total or partial vaginectomy; with repair of enterocele
- Vaginal hysterectomy, radical (Schauta type operation)
- Vaginal hysterectomy, for uterus greater than 250 g;
- Vaginal hysterectomy, for uterus greater than 250 g; with removal of tube(s) and/or ovary(s)
- Laparoscopy, surgical, supracervical hysterectomy, for uterus 250 g or less;
- Laparoscopy, surgical, supracervical hysterectomy, for uterus 250 g or less; with removal of tube(s) and/or ovary(s)
- Laparoscopy, surgical, supracervical hysterectomy, for uterus greater than 250 g;
- Laparoscopy, surgical, supracervical hysterectomy, for uterus greater than 250 g; with removal of tube(s) and/or ovary(s)
- Laparoscopy, surgical, with vaginal hysterectomy, for uterus 250 g or less;
- Laparoscopy, surgical, with vaginal hysterectomy, for uterus 250 g or less; with removal of tube(s) and/or ovary(s)
- Laparoscopy, surgical, with vaginal hysterectomy, for uterus greater than 250 g;
- Laparoscopy, surgical, with vaginal hysterectomy, for uterus greater than 250 g; with removal of tube(s) and/or ovary(s)
- Salpingo-oophorectomy, complete or partial, unilateral or bilateral (separate procedure)
- Cryopreservation; embryo(s)
- 89259 Cryopreservation; sperm
- Storage (per year); oocyte(s)
- Psychotherapy, 30 minutes with patient and/or family member
- Psychotherapy, 30 minutes with patient and/or family member when performed with an evaluation and management service (List separately in addition to the code for primary procedure)
- Psychotherapy, 45 minutes with patient and/or family member
- Psychotherapy, 45 minutes with patient and/or family member when performed with an evaluation and management service (List separately in addition to the code for primary procedure)
- Psychotherapy, 60 minutes with patient and/or family member
- Psychotherapy, 60 minutes with patient and/or family member when performed with an evaluation and management service (List separately in addition to the code for primary procedure)
- Therapeutic service(s) for the use of non-speech-generating device, including programming and modification
- Therapeutic services for the use of speech-generating device, including programming and modification
- C1813 Prosthesis, penile, inflatable
- **D5960** speech aid prosthesis, modification

- **J1380** Injection, estradiol valerate, up to 10 mg
- **J1410** Injection, estrogen conjugated, per 25 mg
- **J1435** Injection, estrone, per 1 mg
- **J2675** Injection, progesterone, per 50 mg
- **J3145** Injection, testosterone undecanoate, 1 mg
- **L8600** Implantable breast prosthesis, silicone or equal
- **S3650** Saliva test, hormone level; during menopause
- **S4023** Donor egg cycle, incomplete, case rate
- **S4025** Donor services for in vitro fertilization (sperm or embryo), case rate
- **S4026** Procurement of donor sperm from sperm bank

#### **ICD-10 Codes**

- **F64.0** Transsexualism
- F64.1 Dual role transvestism
- F64.2 Gender identity disorder of childhood
- **F64.8** Other gender identity disorders
- **F64.9** Gender identity disorder, unspecified

## Additional Policy Key Words

N/A

## Policy Implementation/Update Information

- 10/1/10 New policy; considered medically necessary
- 10/1/11 No policy statement changes.
- 10/1/12 No policy statement changes.
- 10/1/13 No policy statement changes.
- 10/1/14 No policy statement changes.
- 10/1/15 No policy statement changes.
- 10/1/16 Policy title updated and criteria added for hormone therapy.

State and Federal mandates and health plan contract language, including specific

provisions/exclusions, take precedence over Medical Policy and must be considered first in determining eligibility for coverage. The medical policies contained herein are for informational purposes. The medical policies do not constitute medical advice or medical care. Treating health care providers are independent contractors and are neither employees nor agents Blue KC and are solely responsible for diagnosis, treatment and medical advice. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, photocopying, or otherwise, without permission from Blue KC.